Introduction

Melvin I. Urofsky

Every time I sit down to write an introduc-
tion to the next issue of the Journal, I shake my
head in amazement. It is not that the articles we
publish are good; they have to be, or we would
not be running them. Rather, it is the great and
growing diversity of material that fits into the
rubric of Supreme Court history.

As those of you who went to law school
before the “new” legal history took hold in the
1980s, and even for some of you who went
afterward, study of the Supreme Court meant
parsing cases. There might be an occasional
course in constitutional history that would look
beyond the cases to the broader political, eco-
nomic or cultural events taking place at the
time, and even a rare course in judicial biog-
raphy. One read cases to get the bottom line—
what does this case contribute to what the law
is now. Digressions on law and economics, law
and literature, and other “esoteric” views were
offered, if at all, in elective courses.

Unfortunately, that situation still holds
true in many law schools, but over the past two
decades law professors, historians, and polit-
ical scientists have come to appreciate that to
truly understand the Supreme Court and its de-

cisions, one has to look further than the “bot-
tom line.” This is the approach we have tried to
take in the Journal, and from your comments
it appears to be succeeding.

Who would have thought only a few years
ago, for example, that we would carry an ar-
ticle on Muddy Ruel, a professional baseball
player who wound up in the Supreme Court
not to sue the professional leagues but to join
the bar of the Court. What pleases me most
is that the article comes from a law professor,
Robert Jarvis of Nova Southeastern University
Law School.

Douglas Abrams, associate professor of
law at the University of Missouri, looks not
only at a famous decision—the second flag
salute case—but examines Justice Jackson’s
iconic opinion not only for the law it ex-
pounded, but for the inherent passion in it that
shows us another side of a justice who truly de-
serves far more attention than he has received.

While we get many of our articles through
the mail (usually e-mail) and from the Soci-
ety’s annual lecture series, Tim Huebner, who
has joined us as associate editor, and I often
find articles by talking to people we know.
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And sometimes there is just plain luck in be-
ing at a certain place at the right time. Last
year I chaired a session at the annual meet-
ing of the Organization of American Histori-
ans, and Marc Lendler, a government profes-
sor at Smith College, gave a paper on Gitlow v.
New York that looked at the majority decision
in what I thought was a new and interesting
light. So I asked Marc to turn the oral presen-
tation into an article for the Jourrnal, which he
did, and we are pleased to present it.

Each year the Society sponsors a lecture
at the time of the annual meeting, and this
past year Judge Judith Kaye spoke on the
law of juvenile justice as it has been shaped
by the Court. Judge Kaye served for fifteen
years as chief judge of the New York Court of
Appeals, the state’s highest tribunal, longer
than any other chief judge in New York his-
tory. After her retirement in 2008 she joined
Skadden Arps as counsel.

A few years ago the common wisdom
was that one could not write very much about
law clerks because of the oath of confiden-
tiality they took, but that was before Todd
Peppers came along. The Fowler Professor
of Public Affairs at Roanoke College, Pep-
pers realized that there is a great deal that
can be mined about clerks and their relation-
ships to their justices that does not involve
breaking the oath, and we have been happy to
open the Journal to his articles. In this issue
he talks about Justice Hugo Black and how
he mentored his clerks, both in the library
and on the tennis court. Years ago, when I
was in law school, I had two professors who
had been Black clerks, and they told some of
these stories. Peppers shows that their experi-
ence was not unique, but indicative of how
Black looked on his responsibilities to his
clerks.

So, as always, an interesting feast. Enjoy!



And Behind the Plate ... Muddy
Ruel of the U.S. Supreme Court Bar

ROBERT M. JARVIS*

On May 27, 1929, Herold D. Ruel “was admitted to practice before the United States
Supreme Court.”! The next day, the visiting New York Yankees beat the Washington Senators
12-7. Ruel walked, singled, and drove in two runs for the home team.

Ruel expected to practice law when his
playing days were over, but he never did. Still,
his training did not go to waste. Indeed, in
November 1945 it helped him land a job as
Happy Chandler’s chief aide. One month ear-
lier, Chandler had become baseball’s second
commissioner, succeeding the late Judge Ke-
nesaw M. Landis.

Although accounts of Ruel’s baseball ca-
reer are plentiful, his legal career has been all
but overlooked. Accordingly, this essay seeks
to shed a bit of light on this neglected aspect
of Ruel’ life.

Playing Career

Because Ruel’s career as one of the game’s best
defensive catchers—as well as the person who
dubbed the gear worn by catchers the “tools of
ignorance”2 —has been so well-documented,
only a brief recap is needed here.

Herold Dominic Ruel was born in St.
Louis on February 20, 1896, and grew up play-
ing baseball on the city’s sandlots, where he
acquired the nickname “Muddy.”3 At 17, Ruel
joined the semi-pro Wabadas and soon caught
the eye of Charley Barrett, the chief scout
of the American League’s St. Louis Browns.
On November 7, 1914, the Browns signed the
diminutive (5’ 9”) Ruel to a $125-a-month con-
tract.

Ruel broke into the majors on May 29,
1915, but his first year was not an auspicious
one (in nineteen plate appearances he com-
piled a .000 batting average). Thus, after that
season, his contract was sold to the minor-
league Memphis Chicks. During the next two
years, Ruel showed steady improvement, and
in August 1917, the Yankees purchased his
rights. In June 1918, however, Ruel was forced
to leave the team when he was drafted into
the army. Ruel was back the following season,
and on August 14, 1919, he entered the record
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book, albeit for the wrong reason: while facing
the Detroit Tigers, he hit into a triple play in
a game the Yankees ended up winning, 5-4.
One year later, Ruel was involved in a much
more infamous play. On August 16, 1920, dur-
ing the fifth inning of a home game against
the Cleveland Indians, a pitch thrown by Carl
Mays killed shortstop Ray Chapman. The inci-
dent marks the only time a major-league player
has died on the field.

Following the 1920 season, the Yankees
traded Ruel to the Boston Red Sox. Two years

Muddy Ruel during his
playing days with the
Washington Senators.

later, Ruel was on the move again, this time
to the Washington (D.C.) Senators. As matters
turned out, Ruel had his best years in Washing-
ton, with the high point coming in 1924: Ruel
hit .283 that season and the Senators outlasted
the Yankees to capture their first pennant.

In the World Series that year, the club
faced the powerful New York Giants, who were
appearing in their fourth straight fall classic.
Although Ruel batted a mere .095, he came
up big in Game 7. With one out and the score
tied 33 in the bottom of the 12" inning, Ruel
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doubled after fouling off the previous pitch.
The easy pop-up should have been a routine
play for Giants catcher Hank Gowdy, but as
he went for the ball he tripped over his mask,
giving Ruel renewed life at the plate. Two bat-
ters later, rookie Earl McNeely drove Ruel in
with a ball that got past Giants third baseman
Fred Lindstrom, causing the entire capital to go
wild. Remarkably, in the bottom of the eighth
inning, a similar play had allowed the Sena-
tors to erase a 3—1 deficit, with Ruel scoring
the tying run.

In 1925, Ruel helped guide the Senators
back to the World Series. Two years later,
he was behind the plate at Yankee Stadium
when Babe Ruth belted his record-breaking
60™ home run. After 1928, however, Ruel was
used strictly as a back-up, and, in Decem-
ber 1930, the Senators sold him back to the
Red Sox. Following stints with the Tigers and
Browns, Ruel finished his playing career with
the Chicago White Sox, appearing in his last
game on August 25, 1934,

Legal Career

In many ways, Ruel’s legal career began when
he signed his first professional contract with
the St. Louis Browns in 1914. To entice Ruel,
the team promised him an early tryout. When
it later tried to go back on its word, Ruel
protested:

It has cost Robert Lee Hedges of
the St. Louis Browns $250 to make
good a promise made by one of his
employees. Last fall Scout Charley
Barrett signed Harold [sic] Ruel, a
young amateur catcher, to a Brown
contract. Among the inducements of-
fered Ruel to sign was a trip to wher-
ever the Browns might train, special
attention from Manager Rickey, Joe
Sugden and Bob Wallace, a chance to
make good with the Browns and if he
did not make good a place with some
minor league club.

Ruel jumped at the great opportunity.
Being but 18 years old, his father, Of-
fice George Ruel, of the St. Louis po-
lice department, signed his contract
for him. Then the youngster settled
down to a winter of hard study and
hard training at Soldan High School.

When time came for the Browns to go
South Mr. Hedges told the youngster
that Mr. Rickey had not placed him
on the list of those who were to go
to the training camp. That meant that
Ruel was not to go to Houston. ...

“But, Mr. Hedges,” said young Ruel,
“Mr. Barrett promised me that I
should be taken South. That was as
good as a gift of $500 to me. I would
sooner have that chance than $500. 1
would not have signed a contract had
Mr. Barrett not promised me I would
be taken South.”

“Barrett promised you that?” said Mr.
Hedges.

“Yes, sir.”

“Well, he had no authority to do
so, but if an employee of this
club promises a player anything the
promise shall be kept,” replied the
club owner.

“You won’t mind my wiring Mr.
Rickey to ascertain from Barrett
if he remembers having made this
promise[?] I do not doubt your word,
but you may have placed a wrong
construction on what Barrett said.”

Mr. Hedges wired Rickey to ask Bar-
rett about it. Barrett said that he had
promised Ruel that he would be taken
on the training trip, that Rickey would
“look over him,” in a word, every-
thing Ruel had said [to] Mr. Hedges
was affirmed.

“All right,” said Mr. Hedges to young
Ruel. “You go South.”
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Branch Rickey, the Browns’ manager, was
a one-time catcher who had earned a law de-
gree at the University of Michigan. When
Rickey optioned Ruel to the Memphis Chicks
in 1916, he encouraged Ruel to finish his ed-
ucation. Rickey’s words apparently made an
impression, for in 1917 Ruel entered the law
school at Washington University in St. Louis
as a “special student.” For the next five years,
Ruel played baseball in the spring and went
to school in the fall. As he told the press: “I
may not come as fast as some of [the] experts
predict and I want to have a profession to fall
back on when I am through with baseball.”

On May 29, 1922, Justice Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr. issued his landmark decision in
Federal Baseball Club of Baltimore, Inc. v. Na-
tional League of Professional Baseball Clubs.”
Seven months later, on December 20, 1922,
Ruel took and passed the Missouri bar exam.
On January 3, 1923, he was admitted and as-
signed attorney number 4774.

Although Ruel did not set up a practice,
he “kept in touch with the legal profession by

St. Louis Browns' man-
ager Branch Rickey,
who had a law degree,
urged Ruel to complete
his education.

study[ing] during the winters and attending tri-
als during the summer months when baseball
practice did not interfere.”® On September 27,
1924, for example, Ruel’s “friend, Associate
Justice Edward A. Counihan, Jr., invited him to
sit on the judge’s bench in the juvenile session
of the 3d District Court of Eastern Middle-
sex.™ Later that day, Ruel helped the Senators
beat the Red Sox, 7-5, at Fenway Park.

After the Senators won their second
straight pennant in 1925, Ruel demanded a
pay increase and threatened to sit out the 1926
season if he did not get one. When he made
the same demand in 1927, The Sporting News
wrote: “Maybe he regards his annual salary
debate as practice for his Winter profession.
He will be a successful advocate some day, es-
pecially if there are ladies on the jury, as he
makes a big hit with the fair sex at the local
stadium.”!”

In 1929, Ruel was in the news again when
he became the first—and only, thus far—major
leaguer admitted to the bar of the Supreme
Court of the United States. Ruel’s petition was
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Washington D.C. tax lawyer Robert Ash moved Ruel’s
admission to the Supreme Court.

Clerk Charles Elmore Cropley swore Ruel into the Supreme Court bar.
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seconded by Robert Ash, a Washington, D.C.
tax lawyer.After the motion was granted, Ruel
was sworn in by Clerk of Court Charles Elmore
Cropley.

On May 7, 1932, the Yankees beat the
Tigers, 4-1, at Yankee Stadium. In the sixth
inning, Babe Ruth struck out on a checked
swing. Disagreeing with the call, he threw his
bat high in the air, barely missing home plate
umpire Brick Owens, who ejected Ruth from
the game. In the Detroit dugout, the players ex-
changed opinions about Ruth’s legal liability:

“To me it looks like, maybe, as-
sault and battery,” said Victor Sorrell.
“And it probably will be mayhem, if
Owens takes off that mask,” added
Earl Whitehill.

Harold [sic] (Muddy) Ruel, the Ben-
gals first[-]string catcher, grinned
with the other members of the Tiger
pack.

“The Babe’s antics may be interest-
ing and may bring a suspension,”
said Muddy, “but he could hardly be
charged with assault and battery for
casting his bat into the air. It couldn’t
be battery because Ruth, despite all
the noise he has made, has not struck
the umpire. It could hardly be assault
either, for judging by Owens’ non-
chalance as that bat whizzed past his
left ear, he was not convinced Ruth
intended to do bodily harm upon his
person. The Bam probably will be
suspended, but not for assault and
battery nor mayhem. He probably
will be accused in formal language
of making one terrific squawk.”

His fellow Tigers were willing to ac-
cept Ruel’s views on the legal as-
pects of the case, Owens vs. Ruth,
for they well knew that Harold [sic]
M. Ruel, during the off season, is a
practicing attorney in St. Louis; that
he has been granted the right to prac-
tice before the Supreme Court of his

native State; and that he is the only
professional baseball player who has
been accorded the right to practice
law before the United States Supreme
Court.!!

In November 1932, Ruel was released by
the Tigers, and one month later he signed with
the Browns. During the 1933 season, the im-
mensely popular Ruel was offered the position
of St. Louis County assistant district attorney.
Although grateful, he declined.

On December 13, 1933, Ruel was again
released. The next day, Joseph L. Breen, a
friend of Ruel’s in Boston, wrote a letter to
Judge Landis urging him to hire Ruel:

MUDDY RUEL was made a free
agent yesterday.

If no major league team displays suf-
ficient wisdom to grab this smart lit-
tle guy who would be an asset to any
major league club, why do you not
“adopt” him as a protégé to build him
up as a future commissioner of base-
ball[?]

MUDDY RUEL has been a big lea-
guer for 19 years. He has been a
lawyer for 10 years. He is a gentle-
man and he is highly intelligent. He
has a fine personality and is a favorite
with fans and players alike.

A graduate of Washington Univer-
sity, who has not forgotten his “yes-
terday,” Muddy Ruel would make an
excellent deputy for you to take care
of many baseball duties which re-
quire tact, diplomacy, and UNDER-
STANDING.

MUDDY RUEL belongs to baseball
and it is so seldom that a baseball
man trains himself for Law that one
who does should be encouraged by
holding out the ultimate promise of a
chance to combine baseball and legal
talents for the general good of BASE-
BALL.
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I think that the suggestion is worthy

of consideration.'?

Breen soon wrote Landis again, but noth-
ing came of his idea.

In the meantime, Ruel contemplated ac-
cepting a job with a St. Louis bank, but in
March 1934 he finally landed a deal with the
Chicago White Sox to catch and coach. Ruel
did such a good job helping the club’s pitchers
that he was hired as the team’s full-time bull
pen coach, a position he ended up holding for
eleven seasons.

U.S. District Judge
Kenesaw M. Landis
served as baseball’s
first commissioner.

In November 1945, Happy Chandler hired
Ruel to be his executive assistant. For nearly
his entire tenure, Landis’s chief aide had been
a Chicago lawyer named Leslie M. O’Connor.
When Landis died, O’Connor left the commis-
sioner’s office to become the general manager
of the White Sox. In his search for a replace-
ment, Chandler quickly zeroed in on Ruel.

While Ruel had many backers (including
legendary outfielder Ty Cobb), support for him
was not unanimous. In October 1945, for ex-
ample, Warren C. Giles, the general manager
of the Cincinnati Reds, wrote Chandler a long
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letter that opened with questions about Ruel’s
qualifications:

As I was leaving Chicago last Thurs-
day, I had a few minutes with [Na-
tional League president] Ford Frick
just before getting into a taxicab. He
told me at that time that you had men-
tioned to him the name of Muddy
Rhuel {sic] as a possibility to fill the
place vacated by Leslie O’Connor.

[ don’t want you to think I am butting
into matters that may appear to be
none of my business, but I do believe
it would be a big mistake to select
anyone to take Leslie’s place unless
that man had a background of actual
baseball paper work. Muddy Rhuel
[sic], no doubt, is a great coach and
of fine character. As I understand it,
he graduated in law (but apparently
has not practiced it or done anything
about it for several years). [ am con-
fident, however, that his work has not
been such as would give him the nec-
essary experience to handle intelli-
gently the matters that will have to be
handled and passed upon in the job
in question.

During the discussion of the matter

in the National League meeting, all

of us seemed to be of the opinion that

the first qualification of a man for the

job was experience in baseball trans-

actions and baseball paper work. That

seemed to be the No. 1 requirement,
judging by the discussions, as [ recall

it. It is the No. 1 requirement in my

opinion.'?

Despite Giles’s misgivings, Ruel proved
to be a superb administrator, handling with
aplomb such diverse matters as changes in the
“bonus baby” signing system, relations with
foreign baseball leagues, and the need to make
the game more fan-friendly.

Although it appeared that Ruel had found
the perfect job for his talents, he was eager to

return to the playing field, and in September
1946 he agreed to become the Browns’ new
manager. Two months later, Ruel said good-
bye to Chandler and headed back to St. Louis.

On the first day of spring training, Ruel
“talked to his players ... and told them that
he was a law school graduate and would be
happy to help them with their problems.”!*
One problem, however, proved insoluble: the
team’s lack of talent. After finishing last with
a 59-95 record, Ruel was handed his walking
papers.

Ruel’s time on the unemployment line
proved short: three weeks after being let go
by the Browns, the Indians made him a coach.
In November 1950, Ruel was placed in charge
of the club’s farm system, but in October
1951 he left for a similar position with the
Tigers.

In October 1953, Detroit made Ruel its
general manager, a position where his legal
training proved a plus when negotiating player
contracts. But in October 1956, a front of-
fice shake-up left him with the ceremonial
post of special assistant to the president. Up-
set by his diminished role, in April 1957, Ruel
requested a one-year leave of absence and
then took a long vacation in Italy, where he
served as a goodwill ambassador for baseball.
In March 1958, he formally resigned from the
Tigers.

Following his return to the United States
in June 1958, Ruel announced his retirement
and began making plans to move to San
Francisco. Finally settling in Palo Alto, Ruel
lived out the remainder of his life quietly. On
January 4, 1963, he had a heart attack, and on
November 13, 1963, a second one killed him
while he was driving near his home.

Conclusion

On December 10, 1938, Ruel got married in
Chicago. His bride was Dorothea A. Wester, a
beautiful press agent fourteen years his junior,
and his best man was Michael T. Kelleher, a
prominent Boston insurance executive.
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In 1942, Ruel (center) joined the staff of Happy Chandler (seated), baseball’s second commissioner.

By the time Ruel joined Happy Chandler’s
staff in 1945, he and Dorothea were raising
four children. On June 10, 1968, their son
Dennis, a graduate of the University of San
Francisco’s law school, became a member of
the California bar.
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The Time to Kill a Snake:
Gitlow v. New York and the
Bad-Tendency Doctrine

MARC LENDLER

This statute is a preventive measure. It is intended to head off these mad and cruel men
at the beginning of their careers. It is intended to put out a fire with a bucket of water
which might not later on yield to the contents of the reservoir.

—William MacAdoo, presiding judge at Benjamin Gitlow’s arraignment

The brief for the plaintiff-in-error contains a very interesting discussion—much of it
historical, much of it philosophical—of the right of free speech. We shall not address

that question at all.

—State’s Brief to Supreme Court, Gitlow v. New York

On January 30, 1920, Benjamin Gitlow
went on trial in New York City, one of five
early American Communists charged under
the state’s criminal anarchy law. Gitlow’s case
eventually wound up in the Supreme Court,
which in June 1925 upheld his conviction.
Gitlow v. New York is best known as the case in
which the Supreme Court began the process of
“incorporation”—applying the Bill of Rights
to the states. But the Gitlow case also contains
some of the most compelling debate about the
“bad tendency principle”—that a speaker is

responsible for the reasonable, probable out-
come of his words, regardless of how likely it
is that the words will lead to a criminal act.
This article will focus on that part of the Git-
low case, rather than its better known role in
incorporation.

Gitlow was among a group of Socialist
party activists who, inspired by the October
Revolution in Russia, envisioned a similar path
to power in the United States. In the sum-
mer of 1919, a conference of the left wing
of the Socialist party met to plan the creation
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of a Leninist-style party. Unable to agree on
when and how a party should be created, the
conferees did put out a statement of purpose
and intentions called the “Left Wing Mani-
festo.” The Manifesto criticized the “moder-
ate, petite-bourgeois socialism” of the older
Socialist party leaders who made the “revo-
lutionary class struggle a parliamentary pro-
cess” as opposed to the “uncompromising pro-
letarian struggle for socialism.”" The goal of
the left wing was to encourage “mass political
strikes against capitalism and the state,” as ex-
emplified by recent general strikes in Seattle
and Winnipeg. “Mass action becomes political
in purpose while extra-parliamentary in form;
itis equally a process of revolution and the rev-
olution itself in operation,” said the Manifesto.

Written in transliterated Bolshevese, the
“Left Wing Manifesto” was virtually unread-
able for anyone not saturated in the terms of
debates on the left.? But it did have one
avid non-Socialist reader—Archibald Steven-
son, special counsel for the Lusk Committee,
set up by the New York legislature to investi-
gate leftist activity in the state. Stevenson be-
lieved that there was a basis for prosecuting so-
cialists, Communists, and anarchists under the
state’s criminal-anarchy law, passed in 1902
after the assassination of President William
McKinley by deranged sometime-anarchist
Leon Czogolz. The law made advocacy of
“the doctrine that organized government must
be overthrown by force or violence ... or by
any unlawful means” a felony.® The purpose
of the law was to make pernicious doctrines
criminal before any consequences occurred
or were even seen likely to occur. An appeal
brief for the state in Gitlow pointed out that
the motivation of the law was the frustration
New York authorities felt with their inability
to prosecute anarchist orator Emma Goldman,
whose lectures Czogolz had attended, for the
McKinley assassination. The criminal-
anarchy law was written to provide a basis for
those prosecutions in the future, and Stevenson
recommended it be used against these aspiring
American Bolsheviks.’

The motivation of the criminal-anarchy law was the
frustration New York authorities felt at their inability
to prosecute anarchist orator Emma Goldman (pic-
tured), whose lectures Leon Czogolz had attended,
before his assassination of President McKinley.

At a celebration of the second anniver-
sary of the Russian Revolution in New York,
Gitlow was arrested along with hundreds of
others. The District Attorney charged forty-
five of them and eventually brought five
to trial.® Gitlow, whose name was on the
masthead of the “Left Wing Manifesto” as
business manager, was an obvious choice.’
James Larkin, an Irish national who was
well known for his leadership of a gen-
eral strike in Dublin in 1913, was another.?
Also charged were national Communist lead-
ers Charles Ruthenberg and Isaac E. Fer-
guson and a local New York party leader,
Harry Winitsky. Gitlow and Larkin were
members of the Communist Labor Party;
Ruthenberg, Ferguson, and Winitsky were
members of the Communist Party of America.
While the differences between the two par-
ties were microscopic, they were meaningful
enough to their adherents that the two groups
did not coordinate defense strategies.
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The case the prosecution planned to
present relied almost exclusively on the words
of the Manifesto. In none of the trials was
any defendant charged with an overt criminal
act or with urging anyone else to commit one;
at no time did the prosecution claim that the
Manifesto advocated criminal acts or that its
publication was likely to produce them. This
is how Stevenson explained the theory of the
case:

Prosecutions have been for the use
of words or printed arguments urging
actions which if carried out by the
reader or hearer would have resulted
in the commission of a crime.’

Trial Run

Prosecution for a single publication was a
novel theory, but the state had a chance to try
it out before it turned to the Communist tri-
als. Two Finnish anarchists, Gust Alonen and
Carl Paivio, had been arrested in the summer
after the Lusk Committee raids of the New
York Industrial Workers of the World (IWW)
headquarters. Stevenson focused on a pam-
phlet called “Luokkataistelu,” or “The Class
Struggle,” which contained passages such as
these:

To get away from capitalist slavery,
we have to do the work in the only
way possible, by mass action. .. .

Don’t show them any more friend-
ship. ... but organize into mobs.

Destroy everything which gets in the
way of your aspirations and is prop-
erty of your enemy . . .!°

Stevenson believed that those words con-
stituted the advocacy of illegal means, and
he persuaded the District Attorney to charge
Alonen and Paivio under the criminal-anarchy
law, notwithstanding the fact that they had not
written the pamphlet and could barely explain
what it was saying. They were active in the
New York IWW office from which it was dis-

tributed and were therefore liable for its con-
tents. The prosecution argued here, as it would
in the Communist trials, that an active role in
circulating material that might lead some un-
specified reader to commit an illegal act at
some future time was itself a crime.!! There
were no speech-rights issues raised in the
Alonen-Paivo trial. The defendants claimed
mistaken identity. A young IWW worker, for
instance, testified that she was given a stack
of pamphlets not by Alonen, but by a “sweet-
heart” whose address and occupation she did
not know.!? The testimony revolved around not
whether the words constituted a crime, but ali-
bis and aliases. It was not much for the defense
to work with; the two were in fact local leaders,
and their stories were not credible. They were
convicted and sentenced to four to eight years,
a verdict setting the stage for the Communist
trials that followed by less than a month.

The cast of characters in the Alonen-
Paivio trial remained largely in place for all
the subsequent cases. The bulk of the argument
for the prosecution was handled by Alexander
Rorke, assistant district attorney. The lawyers
for the anarchists were Swinburne Hale
and Walter Nelles, who, along with Charles
Recht, were heavily involved in almost every
level of the defense in the criminal-anarchy
cases.

The central connecting figure was Judge
Bartow Weeks. He presided over all the
trials and relished engaging the defendants
in broad, often tangential, arguments about
their political views. In part, this was sim-
ple self-indulgence. Weeks clearly enjoyed
matching wits with those who claimed an
all-encompassing set of ideas. But his
wide-ranging discussions with these Marxist
witnesses also demonstrated an underlying dif-
ference he had with Rorke about the nature
of the criminal-anarchy law. Rorke seemed to
have possible First Amendment challenges to
the prosecutions constantly in mind, and he
tried to focus as narrowly as he could on the
direct advocacy of illegal means of political
change by the defendants.
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We are not concerned during the trial,
with the question as to whether it
would be better for the citizens in the
United States to have the Soviet sys-
tem of government here . . . or to have
the ancient feudal system. All that we
are interested in is the means they in-
tend to bring about the change.!?

Weeks, on the other hand, implied that
it was sufficient to show that the defendants’
ideas would inevitably lead to the employment
of illegal means, whether they discussed those
means directly or not. If illegalities could be
deduced from the theories the defendants ad-
vocated, it did not matter whether they explic-
itly advocated crimes. When Ruthenberg tes-
tified about the Communist program, Weeks
questioned him at length about seemingly ab-
stract matters.

You used an unusual word there, the
word “expropriate.” . .. [W]hat is the
meaning of [that word] as you use
it?... Does that include any pro-
posal for the workers as groups, or
individuals, taking property, taking
industries from capitalist owners?'4

The purpose of Weeks’ questions was to
demonstrate that massive illegalities such as
confiscation of property and the disruption
of legally constituted authority were a neces-
sary corollary of the defendants’ commitment
to the Bolshevik path to power. The distinc-
tion between Rorke and Weeks illustrated the
width of the bad-tendency net. It permitted the
judge to argue—and to charge the jury—that
a defendant does not have to be charged with
directly inciting someone to do something il-
legal; even the discussion of illegal means in
pursuit of those goals can be inferred.

“l Am a Revolutionist”

While the Alonen-Paivio defense resembled
that of a burglary trial (“wasn’t us—must have
been someone who looked like us”), Gitlow

(77

Clarence Darrow (pictured), who was occupied with
a similar trial going on with Communists in Chicago,
represented Gitlow in his New York trial. He met him
only the night before the trial began, when Gitlow
informed him that if put on the witness stand he
“would not deny, but affirm and defend every com-
munist principle in the ‘Left Wing Manifesto.’”

in essence presented no defense at all. He was
represented by Clarence Darrow, who was oc-
cupied with a similar trial going on with Com-
munists in Chicago and met Gitlow only the
night before his trial began.'> At that meet-
ing, Gitlow informed Darrow that if put on
the witness stand, he “would not deny, but
affirm and defend every communist princi-
ple in the Left Wing Manifesto.”'® That was
not welcome news to Darrow, but he realized
Gitlow was beyond argument: “Well,  suppose
a revolutionist must have his say in court even
if it kills him.”'” So he compromised: Gitlow
would not go on the stand, but Darrow would
ask Weeks if his client could make a speech
to the jury. Darrow also surprised the prosecu-
tion by stipulating that Gitlow was, in fact,
responsible for the publication and circula-
tion of the Manifesto. Rorke, suspicious of the
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stipulation (“I’'m afraid of Greeks bearing
gifts”) proceeded to produce witnesses who
testified to what Darrow had already stipu-
lated.'® He even brought Gitlow’s sister to the
stand to testify that Gitlow had asked her to
help type the pamphlet.

Rorke read the entire Manifesto to the
jury. He argued it would “make the hair on
your head stand on edge”; Darrow warned it
might put jurors to sleep.!” The part of the
Manifesto that Rorke highlighted, and that, in
fact, resulted in more pages of testimony in the
Criminal Anarchy trials than any other topic,
was this favorable reference to a general strike
in Winnipeg that had taken place in spring,
1919:

Strikes are developing which verge
on revolutionary action, and in which
the suggestion of proletarian dictator-
ship is apparent, the striker-workers
trying to usurp functions of munic-
ipal government as in Seattle and
Winnipeg.2

The strike had not been especially vio-
lent, but what the prosecution pointed to as its
criminal nature was that the Winnipeg Strike
Committee had decided that a minimal level
of police, hospital, and health-inspecting work
should continue, and issued a license in the
name of the strike for those activities. A deci-
sion made for humanitarian reasons may not
seem malicious, but the prosecution described
it as the action of a proto-Soviet. Praise for the
Winnipeg strike in the Manifesto was given
as evidence that the authors favored this kind
of usurpation of legal authority in New York.
A witness from Winnipeg was brought in to
describe the havoc the strike had caused. Dar-
row and lawyers in the subsequent trials ob-
jected vociferously to this testimony about a
Canadian strike with no New York parallel
or likelihood that there would be. But Weeks
overruled them. “This sort of strike did usurp
the functions of the municipal government, to
illustrate what these people mean.”?!

The Gitlow defense presented no wit-
nesses and, as promised, Darrow requested per-
mission for Gitlow to address the jury. Weeks
agreed.?? The speech was a forthright defense
of Gitlow’s Marxist views.

People who adhered to the social-
ist program and philosophy were al-
ways considered revolutionists and 1
as one maintain that in the eyes of the
present day society, ] am a revolution-
ist. {[Jn order to bring about social-
ism, capitalist governments must be
overthrown. My whole life has been
dedicated to the movement which I
am in. No jail will change my opinion
in that respect. I ask no clemency.?

Decades later, even after Gitlow had be-
come a vehement anti-Communist, he contin-
ued to refer to that speech with pride. Although
he no longer would have agreed with a syllable
of its substance, he saw his stance as an act of
integrity.

Darrow tried to soften the message of
Gitlow’s speech and simultaneously address
the question of speech rights in his summary.
He presented Gitlow as one in a long line of
eccentric “dreamers.” “I am for the dreamers. I
would rather that every practical man shall die
if the dreamers shall be saved.”* Understand-
ing that Gitlow’s hard-edged rhetoric limited
the possibility of selling him as a misunder-
stood reformer, Darrow barely mentioned his
client’s name. He turned to the argument that
would eventually send the case to the Supreme
Court—that the Manifesto was too abstract
and its audience too diffuse to make it a plau-
sible cause of criminal acts. In the Manifesto,
he argued, there was “not a word inciting any-
one to violence, not a word inciting anyone to
unlawful activity.”?

In response, Rorke tried to make tangible
the links in the bad-tendency chain of causal-
ity. Although the authors of the Manifesto were
too clever to write a call to violence, he argued,
it was hiding in plain sight. Revolution started
with strikes of protest—"“mass action,” in the
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language of the Manifesto. Political strikes
of the Winnipeg kind could illegally deprive
people of life-giving services such as police
and fire protection. Then the revolutionaries
would turn to their real goal—-seizing pri-
vate property. But that could not be accom-
plished without violence. “How are you going
to take their property away without murder?"2
There was connection: from the abstractions of
the Manifesto to murder, by logical inference.
The Manifesto did not call for violence, but it
was there in the reasonable, probable outcome
of its ideas. Nor was the improbability of fol-
lowers engaging in overt illegal acts as a result
of the Manifesto a problem. Weeks dismissed
the argument that a pamphlet as dull as this
could never incite anyone to activity.

If a man tries to do it and his powers
of expression are not such as will in-
cite the person to whom he addresses
his remarks, that is not his fault. He
commits a crime when he advises it.?’

The jury convicted Gitlow in three hours.
The defense made no argument for mitigation,
and Weeks sentenced Gitlow to the maximum,
five to ten years at hard labor. The New York
Times praised the verdict, especially its rejec-
tion of the free speech argument “so often and
so wearisomely appealed to by the men and
women who seek to overthrow freedom.”??

Reruns

The prosecution had accomplished its central
goal (apart from putting Gitlow in jail): it had
obtained a conviction for a pamphlet Gitlow
did not write, that was not addressed to anyone
in particular, and that urged no one to commit
an illegal act. Although Gitlow’s name was on
the masthead of the Manifesto, his main cul-
pability lay in the fact that he was an advocate
of its views. That made the outcome of the
other criminal-anarchy trials almost certain.
Nonetheless, they were interesting variations
on a theme. Harry Winitsky, next up, may have
had the best case. Unlike the other four, he was

not a national Communist leader and had not
been at the convention that drafted the Mani-
festo. He also hired a well-known, non-leftist
lawyer who, unlike Darrow, put on a vigorous
defense. No matter. The prosecution overcame
Winitsky’s lesser role by putting into evidence
the Constitution of the Communist Party of
America and documents from the Comintern
to argue guilt by membership.?? Calling Winit-
sky’s activities “very close to treason,” Weeks
handed down the same sentence Gitlow had
received.

Jim Larkin looked at the verdicts in the
first two cases and decided he would save the
legal expense and defend himself. Larkin was
well known in Ireland as a flamboyant ora-
tor within the labor and Irish national move-
ments. He struggled mightily to restrain his
tendency toward bombast to conform to court-
room norms, but he failed frequently. After
one confrontation, Weeks told him, in effect,
that if he were not going to jail at the end of
the trial anyway, he would be cited right then
for contempt. The high point of the trial—
more comedy than drama—was Larkin asking
himself questions from the witness stand and
then answering them. (Larkin: “Did the de-
fendant ever advocate the use of violence?”
Larkin: “No, on the contrary, always decried
violence.”)*® In a rambling three-hour sum-
mary, he compared himself to Lincoln, Whit-
man, Twain, Einstein, and Galileo.’! The jury
took an hour to convict him, and he received
the same sentence as the first two.

Charles Ruthenberg and Isaac E. Ferguson
were tried together and Ferguson represented
both of them. This was a different situation
from Larkin’s. Ferguson was a highly skilled
lawyer, a University of Chicago Law School
graduate who had a successful law career both
before he became involved in Communist pol-
itics and after he left.3? His approach was to
demonstrate that he and Ruthenberg, located
in Chicago, had little to do with the Mani-
festo, which was finalized and printed in New
York. He also attacked the bad-tendency doc-
trine more clearly than the previous lawyers
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In his majority opinion,
Justice Edward San-
ford pointed out that
"[tlhere was no evi-
dence of any effect re-
sulting from the publi-
cation and circulation
of the Manifesto.”

had, arguing for a more libertarian interpreta-
tion of Oliver Wendell Holmes” recent “clear
and present danger” test.

We are charged with getting over cer-
tain ideas to certain people.*®

[Ferguson]: There is nothing charge-
able as advocacy which is not di-
rected toward some set of hearers . . .
who can do something about it.

[Weeks]: You have in mind the lan-
guage of Mr. Justice Holmes. But this
indictment is not under the Espionage
Act.

[Ferguson]: But the principle is the
same, if it is an indictment founded
upon advocacy. I assume we are not
charged with emitting certain sounds.

The centerpiece of this trial—especially
since the outcome was a foregone conclu-
sion—was a rollicking, virtually unrestrained
exchange about Communist principles be-
tween Ruthenberg, Ferguson, and Weeks.
Rorke stood by helplessly as Weeks comman-
deered his cross-examination of Ruthenberg
and turned it into a discussion about the mean-
ing of private property, the savings rates of
hourly workers, the Soviet Constitution, and
the transition period between capitalism and
Communism. Ruthenberg was a more-than-
willing participant and made an unapologetic
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defense of socialist revolution and its con-
sequences. Far from restraining him, Weeks
egged him on. Rorke tried to object to the
bull-session atmosphere, but Weeks was hav-
ing too much fun with the discussion and cut
him off in midsentence.?* Rorke had no reason
to worry: in spite of the surface respect with
which the seminar on Communism was con-
ducted, Ruthenberg and Ferguson were quickly
convicted and given the same sentence as the
others.

The work that Ferguson had done in sepa-
rating himself and Ruthenberg from the Mani-
festo paid off on appeal: they won an order for
anew trial because the appeals judges felt that
the evidence linking them to the document was
insufficient.>> A trial was never scheduled and
the charges were effectively dropped.

Ferguson soon left the Communist move-
ment, but he presented the defense case in
Ruthenberg v. Michigan to the Supreme Court
in 1927.3¢ Larkin and Winitsky were pardoned
by New York Governor Al Smith, who ap-
peared to take issue with the court’s approach
to protection of speech (“The public assertion
of an erroneous doctrine is perhaps the surest
way to disclose the error ...”).>” But Gitlow
had agreed to let the American Civil Liberties
Union (ACLU) seek a Supreme Court decision
on his case, and that required turning down a
pardon.*® Itis not clear why the ACLU selected
his case from among the four. It may have been
as simple as the fact that his trial was first.
The one that raised the clearest constitutional
problems would have been Winitsky’s convic-
tion for membership alone. The record shows
two things clearly: that the decision to use
Gitlow as a test case was made after the ver-
dict, not before; and that it was the ACLU that
generated the idea, not Gitlow himself.>

Reading Between the Lines

Why should the ACLU have pressed for a
Court decision on peacetime sedition laws af-
ter the adverse First Amendment decisions in

the World War I cases? The push was that
thirty-one states had passed laws similar to
New York’s during the Red Scare of 1919, and
this was creating a broader basis for repres-
sion.** The pull was that they believed there
was a better argument against open-ended
sedition laws than against wartime measures,
which were almost all allowed to expire at the
end of the war. There were also small signs that
an atmosphere might exist to convince courts
to create wider protection for speech rights.
The Red Scare had largely subsided. Gover-
nor Smith’s pardons of Larkin and Winitsky
had hardly created a murmur. And three con-
victions under sedition laws had recently been
overturned in state courts, including one in
New York.*! While these were only a small ju-
dicial countercurrent, they might have led the
ACLU to wonder whether the time was right
for the Supreme Court to take a new look at
the First Amendment.

Gitlow’s first appeal had a more pro-
saic side than that. He hired an expensive es-
tablishment lawyer—Charles Whitman, past
Governor of New York—to fight the case on
the grounds most likely to win a reversal.
Whitman ignored speech rights completely
and focused on a narrower issue: that a law
prohibiting anarchist doctrine should not be
applied to Communists. When that failed, the
appeals process took shape as a speech-rights
battleground. Charles Recht argued to the Ap-
pellate Division that the criminal-anarchy law
was a violation of the New York constitution
(“Every citizen may freely speak, write, and
publish his sentiments on all subjects, being
responsible for the abuse of that right.”) He
focused on the fact that the law criminalized a
doctrine:

Speaking or writing can be dealt with
as a crime only when in such close re-
lation to substantive evil condemned
as criminal as to constitute an active
immediate factor toward the prohib-
ited end.*?
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Since the criminal-anarchy law desig-
nated one doctrine as illegal and had no
requirement of proximity to an overt illegal
act, Recht argued, it was unconstitutional on
its face, with no breakthrough in protection of
speech rights required to reach that conclusion.

The state barely responded to the con-
stitutional argument. It simply pointed to the
heinous features of the “Left Wing Manifesto,”
leaving the impression that constitutional ob-
jections were unserious nitpicking. The judges
needed no convincing. “[Tthe common-law
theory of proximate cause ... has no applica-
tion here” because the legislature had already
made a determination that the doctrine was
harmful.** Although the Manifesto did not
directly counsel criminal acts, it did praise
the confiscation of private property and the
usurpation of elected authority. “[S]uch results
could not be brought about peacefully. Some
things are so clearly incident to others that they
do not need to be mentioned.”**

The appeals process produced very lit-
tle that was useful to the ACLU, let alone
to Gitlow. Every court rejected the speech-
rights defense almost offhandedly. No judge
had agreed with, or even taken seriously, the
argument that the New York legislature was
outside constitutional bounds in passing the
1902 criminal-anarchy law. None had agreed
that the minimal possibility that the Manifesto
would be acted on had any relevance. All the
judges agreed that the legislature could define
the “abuse of that right” clause of the state’s
constitutional speech protection in any way it
saw fit. Although some of the opinions did dis-
cuss whether prosecution could take place over
a political tract that did not call for criminal
acts, they all decided that it could. “When peo-
ple combine and advocate such doctrine, there
must necessarily be great latitude for read-
ing between the lines.”*> “Such doctrines” as
Gitlow’s, as opposed to some others that might
not be as pernicious. At the trial level, Rorke
had done his best to make the means advo-
cated in the Manifesto rather than the ends it
envisioned (a Soviet America) the issue. The

appeals courts were not interested in making
that distinction.

Although the briefs written by Gitlow’s
lawyers at each level emphasized that a peace-
time sedition conviction was a novelty and a
radical departure from established practice, in
fact it was neither. It was a logical, unremark-
able extension of the bad-tendency doctrine in
which “bad” was to be defined by legislative
majorities and “tendency” covered as much
time as judge and jury could imagine.

Unsafe at Any Time

When the case moved to the Supreme Court,
stewardship passed from the lefi-leaning
lawyers Hale and Recht to the ACLU, repre-
sented by Walter Pollak. He must have known
the odds against a favorable ruling were long.
The first two decades of the twentieth cen-
tury were not good ones for the First Amend-
ment. The speech-rights environment prior to
World War I was described by the principal
historian of those cases as “[jJudicial hos-
tility and neglect.”*® Before his consequen-
tial change of heart during the war cases,
Oliver Wendell Holmes described freedom of
speech as the equivalent of “freedom from
vaccination”—a right to be weighed (lightly)
against the common good. The Court’s speech-
rights legacy included sustaining a federal law
prohibiting foreign anarchists from visiting the
United States because “the general exploita-
tion of such views is so dangerous to the pub-
lic weal.”¥” Because of its similarity to the
criminal-anarchy law, that precedent appeared
frequently in the state’s appeals briefs. Al-
though the Supreme Court engaged in more se-
rious discussion of speech rights in the World
War I cases, the bottom line was that it sus-
tained convictions in each case. Holmes him-
self provided a vivid bad-tendency metaphor
in a prior case: “a little breath would be enough
to kindle a flame.”*® Even after he and Louis
D. Brandeis began a series of dissents with the
Abrams case in 1919,% only one other Justice
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had ever voted to overturn a conviction in a
speech-rights case, and that was a single time,
on narrow and technical grounds.*

Gitlow was argued on April 12, 1923, and
re-argued at the Court’s request on Novem-
ber 23 of the same year. Pollak wrote the de-
fense brief and made it clear that the ideas of
the “Left Wing Manifesto” would play no role
in his argument. “Our contention is that the
Statute, prohibiting advocacy as such, with-
out a showing of circumstances in which it
is properly punishable, is unconstitutional. We
do not, therefore, discuss the construction of
the Manifesto.”! Pollak did point out that the
Court of Appeals had stipulated that the Man-
ifesto contained no advocacy of illegal acts.
Other than that, Pollak left aside any discus-
sion of what ideas or acts it was advocating.
His case would be tightly wrapped around one
point: “the statute penalizes doctrine as doc-
trine, without regard to consequences or to
the proximate likelihood of consequences.”?
He began with an extended exploration of
English and early American concepts of sedi-
tious libel—the crime of attacking the govern-
ment with words. The moral of his historical
story was that a revolution that was rooted in
opposition to British practices and that had
given rise to the natural-rights language of the
Declaration of Independence must have been
motivated by great sympathy for the freedom
to express doctrines of political disaffection.
Pollak drew this conclusion: “It is unthink-
able that men who not only asserted but acted
upon such principles could carry over into a
government based upon them a principle of
English law under which mere advocacy was
a crime.”3

Pollak certainly could not have imagined
that generalizations from history as broad as
these would give the Court a reason to overturn
the verdict. So he also packaged his client’s
case as being situated within, rather than a de-
parture from, recent Court decisions. The war,
he wrote, was an appropriate rationale for find-
ing certain kinds of dissent to be punishable.>*
But with the end of the war came the end of

the emergency. There was no showing in this
instance of any likely harm resulting from the
publication of the Manifesto. In his summary,
he called explicitly for a “balancing test,” a
term that has not been looked on favorably in
the last fifty years by First Amendment sup-
porters. He even accepted a basic premise of
the bad-tendency doctrine: that speech causes
acts. “When they occasion a substantial evil
that the legislature has a right to prevent, the
speaker of the language which causes it may
be punished.”>

The reason Pollak argued from within,
rather than in criticism of, the bad-tendency
doctrine is not hard to understand. There was
much more likelihood of convincing a Court
majority that its prior rulings would not sus-
tain the Gitlow conviction than of convincing
three more judges that they had been wrong
and Holmes and Brandeis right since Abrams.
If Poliak had succeeded in convincing the ma-
jority to apply a balancing test, it would have
been hard to uphold the conviction. The state
had put nothing on the “likely to cause illegal
act” side of the scale, and the criminal-anarchy
law had not mentioned any need to do that.

In his brief for the state, John Caldwell
Myers took on the “circumstances” argument.
He differentiated between expression—which
is punishable only when it is not “made un-
der such circumstances as to incite the hear-
ers to do that which the law forbids”— and
“per se abuses of the right of free speech,”
which were judged inherently harmful.””® The
Gitlow case was in the second category. Crimi-
nal anarchy, Myers wrote, “is a dangerous doc-
trine at any time.”’ Any government has a
fundamental right to self-preservation, and the
New York legislature had designated the advo-
cacy of criminal anarchy as a threat to public
order.

Here, the briefs for Gitlow and the state
confronted the bad-tendency test directly from
their contrasting perspectives. Walter Nelles,
for Gitlow, admitted that laws “punishing acts
of evil tendency” had sometimes been up-
held.> But he argued that they had always been
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evaluated by “objective and external tests,” to
determine if a “dangerous probability” existed
that overt illegal acts would follow.> The New
York law, which did not permit evidence to be
given about the likelihood that an expression of
“criminal anarchy” would cause an overt act,
was therefore unconstitutional. Myers pointed
out that when President McKinley had been as-
sassinated, there was “no public unrest, there
was no state of war, there was no great strike
or riot in progress.” In other words, there were
no special circumstances. But there was Emma
Goldman. Her speeches, at least one of which
Czolgosz had attended, “caused a silly man to
murder the President.” But New York pros-
ecutors had found, “much to their chagrin[,]
that the real perpetrators of the crime, Emma
Goldman and her like, could not be punished
for want of a statute.”®® Thus, the criminal-
anarchy statute was needed to prosecute the
“real perpetrators” of crime set in motion by
speech.

Myers added a final argument. Even if ex-
pression had to be viewed in its surrounding
circumstances to be found illegal, the “Left
Wing Manifesto” met the test. “‘Imminent’
does not necessarily mean the next moment.”s!
Gitlow and his associates were “taking definite
steps” to bring about these illegal ends, even
if they involved no current illegal action. The
steps included winning converts to the view
that the government had to be overthrown. Win
enough and the plan would be unstoppable.
Gitlow’s teachings now were part and parcel
of overthrowing democratic institutions. My-
ers summarized the argument in a sentence
that should be bad-tendency scripture:

The time to kill a snake is when it is
young.%?

Shouting “Fire” in a Court Decision

The decision handed down on June 8, 1925,
was exactly what one could have been pre-
dicted in the beginning: conviction upheld, 7—
2, Holmes and Brandeis dissenting. Relatively
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new Justice Edward Sanford wrote the major-
ity decision, and while it broke new ground in
a quick aside suggesting that the First Amend-
ment applied to the states, on the substance of
Pollak’s free-speech claims it gave no ground
at all. Sanford first pointed out that “[t]here
was no evidence of any effect resulting from
the publication and circulation of the Mani-
festo.”%3 This was not just an admission of fact;
it was a crucial element in Sanford’s opinion.
From the beginning of the criminal-anarchy
cases, the central argument on the defense side
had been that the “Left Wing Manifesto” was
not directly counseling anything illegal. The
argument on the side of the prosecution was
that the whole point of the Manifesto was to
gain enough adherents to do something mas-
sively illegal as soon as possible—to over-
throw the government by political strikes. San-
ford found a way to reconcile those seemingly
competing arguments in a way that sustained
the conviction.

He described the plan the Manifesto pro-
muoted as being to bring about mass strikes like
Winnipeg. Mass strikes “necessarily imply the
use of force and violence, and in their essen-
tial nature are inherently unlawful.”®* There-
fore, to advocate such a plan now, even though
the Manifesto did not encourage anyone to
start striking, was “action to that end.”%> So
the “fervent language” with which the Mani-
festo urged people to join them in preparing
for this future action was criminal now: “it is
the language of direct incitement.”®® The word
“incitement™ had been part of the World War
I speech rights debates, but with a different
meaning from that it was given here. New York
District Court Judge Learned Hand had ruled
against the Postmaster’s attempt to ban the an-
tiwar newspaper The Masses from the mails,
arguing that only “direct incitement” could
be prohibited.®” Hand’s “incitement” standard
was much more protective of speech than the
Supreme Court was in those years, and Sanford
likely knew that. So he appropriated the term
and gave it a different meaning—“incitement”
in his terms being advocacy that contains a
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logic that might bring about illegal acts at some
point in the future, the first link on the bad-
tendency chain.

That was a long distance from “clear and
present danger,” however ambiguous Holmes’
famous phrase was.5® Sanford felt that he had
to engage that phrase, and doing so enabled
him to respond to Pollak’s argument about
“circumstances.” The World War I cases had
involved violations of the Espionage Act, in
which Congress had designated certain acts,
such as supplying sensitive information to the
enemy or obstructing recruiting, as crimes.
The judgments that courts had to make were
about how directly defendants had counseled
the commission of any of those acts—that was
what the phrase “clear and present danger” re-
ferred to. Both lower courts and the Supreme
Court granted wide latitude for prosecutions,
but at their base, the cases involved an alle-
gation that a defendant had urged people to
violate the crimes described in the Espionage
Act. This case was different. The New York
legislature had declared a doctrine to be ille-
gal, not an act. Sanford wrote that a legislative
judgment in the interest of public safety was
given a strong presumption of validity. So if
the charge involved a publication that was an
example of the banned doctrine, the courts had
no role to play in applying a “clear and present
danger” test, or any other test. The legislature
had already determined that the doctrine was
a crime. “[TThe question whether any specific
utterance coming within the prohibited class is
likely, in and of itself, to bring about the sub-
stantive evil, is not open to consideration.”®
Sanford did not disagree with Pollak that this
case was a departure from the prior speech-
rights cases, but his conclusion was the oppo-
site: in this case, the legislature had taken the
issue of “circumstances” off the table.

Sanford’s reliance on legislative determi-
nation has at times been described as a creative
attempt to develop a more sensible speech-
rights doctrine.”® But it could just as easily be
seen as making matters worse, permitting cen-
sorship as long as it was done by legislatures.

The idea that a legislature should be allowed
to choose which doctrines are inherently crim-
inal seems more directly at odds with protect-
ing speech rights than that they decide which
acts are criminal and permit courts to sort out
the relation of speech to those acts. A legisla-
ture could determine in advance which words
“by their very nature, involve danger to the
public peace.””! The distance between the ap-
pearance of those words and any consequences
is immaterial.

Sanford also approved the essence of My-
ers’ “kill the snake when it is young” theory,
although he preferred fire to snakes:

And the immediate danger is none the
less real and substantial, because the
effect of a given utterance cannot be
accurately foreseen. The State cannot
reasonably be required to measure the
danger of every such utterance in the
nice balance of a jeweler’s scale. A
single, revolutionary spark may kin-
dle a fire that, smouldering for a time,
may burst into a sweeping and de-
structive conflagration.”

Fire is the perfect metaphor for the bad-
tendency doctrine and had been part of the case
against Gitlow from Judge MacAdoo’s opinion
in the magistrate’s court to the Supreme Court.
Once started, fire spreads quickly, threatens
everything, and does not respond to reason.
The civil libertarians involved in Gitlow’s de-
fense argued at every turn that if speech is
not likely lead to immediate illegal acts, there
is time for other thought and counsel to pre-
vent the acts from ever occurring. Speech, even
when expressed in “fervent language,” only
translates into behavior with additional time.
But the majority thought about speech through
the lens of fire, which consumes immedi-
ately. Sanford concluded that it was proper—
obligatory—for the State to “extinguish the
spark without waiting until it has enkindled
the flame or blazed into the conflagration.””?
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Every ldea an Incitement

The fact that Holmes saw his dissent in this
case largely as a reprise helps explain some
of the sweeping generalizations in it. He un-
derstood that he and Brandeis had been alone
in their views since Abrams, but “the convic-
tions [ expressed in that case are too deep for
it to be possible for me to as yet believe that it
... settled the law.” The central issue, Holmes
wrote, was whether the “Left Wing Manifesto”
counseled an immediate revolutionary upris-
ing, and no one arguing the State’s case had
ever said that it did. “[I]t is manifest that there
was no present danger of an attempt to over-
throw the government by force on the part of
the admittedly small minority who shared the
defendant’s views.”’* He described the con-
ditions under which he might have consid-
ered upholding the conviction, emphasizing
the time frame.

If the publication of this document
had been laid as an attempt to in-
duce an uprising against government
at once and not at some indefinite
time in the future it would have pre-
sented a different question. The ob-
ject would have been one with which
the law might deal, subject to the
doubt whether there was any dan-
ger that the publication could produce
any result, or in other words, whether
it was not futile and too remote from
possible consequences. But the in-
dictment alleges the publication and
nothing more.”

The most impassioned part of Holmes’
dissent was his disagreement with Sanford’s
characterization of the “Left Wing Manifesto”
as “incitement.”

Every idea is an incitement. It offers
itself for belief and if believed it is
acted on unless some other belief out-
weighs it or some failure of energy
stifles the movement at its birth. The
only difference between an expres-
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sion of opinion and an incitement in
the narrower sense is the speaker’s
enthusiasm for the result. Eloquence
may set fire to reason.”®

On its surface, this part of the dissent
looks questionable. Direct incitement to here-
and-now illegal activity is one of the cate-
gories of speech that, in contemporary First
Amendment doctrine, may at times be sub-
ject to punishment, and it looks as though
Holmes is denying that any punishable speech
exists at all. But he was replying to Sanford,
who had not used “incitement” in that sense.
Sanford had contrasted incitement to “philo-
sophical abstraction,” leaving nothing between
the two.”” Sanford said accurately that the
Manifesto was not “mere prediction.”’® Git-
low was not simply forecasting a socialist rev-
olution; he was urging it. But it also was not a
call to immediate action, or in any way likely
to produce such a call. So Sanford was us-
ing the term “incitement” in exactly the man-
ner Holmes described in his dissent—*“the
speaker’s enthusiasm for the result.”

The most famous and debatable line in
Holmes’ dissent was this:

Ifin the long run the beliefs expressed
in proletarian dictatorship are des-
tined to be accepted by the dominant
forces of the community, the only
meaning of free speech is that they
should be given their chance and have
their way.”

Is Holmes predicting and endorsing the
formulation of the Bill of Rights as a suicide
pact? One way of interpreting his sentence is
relatively benign—that if in free and open de-
bate a majority endorsed a proletarian dicta-
torship, then that is what they should get. But
he is not quite clear what the phrase “dom-
inant forces” means. He certainly understood
that the Bolshevik path to power did not follow
democratic norms. Did he mean that if power
were seized by an energetic minority, so be it?

That last possibility has led some crit-
ics to describe Holmes’ speech-rights doctrine
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as a form of heartless Social Darwinism.
Holmes’ dissent does not rise or fall on that
sentence. But even the more radical interpre-
tation can be justified. Neither Holmes nor
Brandeis, nor any subsequent Justice,
grounded their speech-rights thinking on an
assumption that words have no consequences.
What they believed was that no specific long-
term consequence is inevitable. Time and other
words will temper the outcome of events. That
basic point united Holmes and Brandeis in
spite of different emphases in their dissents
and set them in opposition to the rest of the
Court for almost the whole of the 1920s.
Brandeis did more than sign the Gitlow dis-
sent; he wrote “very good opinion, this” in a
note to Holmes at the bottom of a copy that
Holmes sent to him.?!

The dissent has also been criticized for not
directly addressing Sanford’s contention that
once the legislature has designated a specific
doctrine as harmful, courts and circumstances
have no role. “Justices Holmes and Brandeis
did notrise to the occasion. . . . Holmes ignored
the distinction Justice Sanford had drawn be-
tween Schenck and the case at the bar.”®? That
is true; addressing that Sanford point was not
among the “ten words” Holmes wanted to add
to his previous thoughts. It would have been
instructive if he had, because the only plau-
sible conclusion he could have reached was
that the law itself was unconstitutional, rather
than the application being faulty. Holmes still
shied away from overturning laws, as opposed
to verdicts, perhaps a product of his general
advocacy of judicial restraint.®’

Criticisms of Holmes’ dissent in this case
are in large measure a product of its mix of
brevity and passion.®* He and Brandeis were
simply not on the same page as the Court ma-
jority any longer. The differences were not
over fine points. They had moved toward a
view, expressed differently in different dis-
sents, that speech could only be held to be
criminal if it were likely to result in immedi-
ate illegal acts. They thought there was some-
thing to be gained by allowing even the speech

of someone like Gitlow, who opposed demo-
cratic government; the majority believed there
was nothing lost by prohibiting it. The consti-
tutional reasoning proceeded from those op-
posed mind-sets. Sanford’s motivating thought
was this one: “[r]easonably limited ... this
freedom [of speech] is an inestimable privi-
lege in a free government; without such limi-
tation, it might become the scourge of the re-
public.”® From that vantage point, tolerating
the “Left Wing Manifesto” would make no
sense. Immediately after the ruling, Holmes
wrote to Sir Frederic Pollock, “the prevailing
notion of free speech seems to be that you may
say what you want if you don’t shock me,” and
added in another letter, “Of course the value
of the constitutional right is only when you do
shock people.”®® The Gitlow dissent was not a
comprehensive restatement of his differences
with Sanford’s principle of “reasonably lim-
ited” speech rights. It should be seen as part of
a continuum, from 4brams to eventual accep-
tance by a Court majority ten years later. But
it did add at least one new element to the de-
veloping Holmes-Brandeis speech-rights doc-
trine. Unlike the World War 1 dissidents,
Gitlow actually was intent on sedition. He
was—as described in his own trial speech—a
“revolutionist.” And the Manifesto, in its harsh
condemnation of the Socialist party, made it
clear that the revolution was not to be accom-
plished by votes or parliamentary reform. The
fact that Holmes and Brandeis dissented in
a case involving an avowed and unapologetic
American Bolshevik demonstrated the depth
of their repudiation of the bad-tendency doc-
trine.

Aftermath

Shortly after the Court upheld his conviction,
Gitlow was pardoned by Governor Smith. He
went on to play a major role in the Communist
party in the 1920s, becoming the General Sec-
retary of the party for a brief period in 1929. In
the summer of that year, he, Jay Lovestone, and
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Bert Wolfe, leaders of the majority tendency in
the party, went to Moscow to argue in front of a
special commission of the Comintern that the
American party should be allowed to choose
its own leaders and policies. Gitlow engaged
in a heated confrontation with Joseph Stalin
and found him to be less sympathetic to open
discussion than the Supreme Court had been.
Gitlow and everyone in the group who agreed
with him were expelled.®” Following the ex-
pulsion, Gitlow joined or started a variety of
left-wing groups in the early and mid-1930s,
at one point rejoining the Socialist party. By
the late 1930s, a combination of the Moscow
show trials, the role of the Communists in the
Spanish Civil War, and the Stalin-Hitler pact
led him to publicly repudiate his former views.
In 1939, he presented lengthy, voluntary tes-
timony to the Dies Committee (forerunner of
the House Un-American Activities Commit-
tee). By the end of World War II, he had be-
come as committed a crusader on the political
right as he had been on the left in the 1920s, tes-
tifying against alleged Communists in some of
the hearings and trials of the period. He never
really understood the significance of the case
he had been involved in, especially Holmes’
dissent. In a 580-page autobiography written
in 1938, he spent a single paragraph on the
case and mentioned the dissent only in pass-
ing.®® He enthusiastically supported the Smith
Act prosecutions of Communist party mem-
bers in the 1950 and condemned the ACLU
for being too willing to defend Communists.
In a now-it-can-be-told moment late in
life, he said to his son, “Of course I was guilty
of what they charged me with—conspiring to
overthrow the government.”®® The implication
was that the only reason some people opposed
his conviction was that they had been hood-
winked about the real purposes of the party.
The bad-tendency doctrine is built on a judi-
cial version of rough common sense, and to
the Gitlow of the 1950s, it seemed incompre-
hensible that there was a right to advocate and
work toward a Soviet America. That is why the
bad-tendency doctrine had such appeal and in

various guises continues to reappear. It is not
an irrational argument, and the state had not
misrepresented Gitlow’s activities and goals.

But neither was the argument of the civil
libertarians of the period based on naiveté
about Gitlow’s real purposes. The argument
was squarely over how far those who ad-
vocate an end to tolerance should be toler-
ated. Hale, Recht, Pollak, Smith, Holmes, and
Brandeis simply had a vision of the role of
speech rights in democratic governance dif-
ferent from the conventional legal wisdom of
the time. Speech intended to bring about pro-
hibited ends—such as, say, the storming of an
American version of the Winter Palace—was
not the same as the prohibited acts themselves.
Insurrection-mongering would not inevitably
lead to insurrection. And there was far more
to gain than to lose by permitting discussion
of views such as those in the “Left Wing Man-
ifesto.”

By 1931, the Court majority had adopted
the general perspective that Holmes and
Brandeis had been advocating.”® But some-
how, New York’s criminal-anarchy law sur-
vived. Although it clearly ran counter to most
of the Court’s speech-rights decisions for the
next thirty-five years, it was never declared un-
constitutional. In fact, it was used again in the
conviction of an African-American member
of the Progressive Labor party in the Harlem
riots of 1964.°! Finally, the New York legisla-
ture decided it had outlived its usefulness and
repealed the old law—on July 20th, 1965, the
day following Benjamin Gitlow’s death. No
one noted the irony.
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Justice Jackson and the Second
Flag-Salute Case: Reason and
Passion in Opinion-Writing

DOUGLAS E. ABRAMS

l. Introduction

In 1943, the Supreme Court handed down West Virginia State Board of Education v. Barnette.!
With Justice Robert H. Jackson writing for the six-Justice majority, the Court upheld the First
Amendment right of Jehovah’s Witnesses schoolchildren to refuse to salute the flag or recite the
Pledge of Allegiance, state-imposed obligations that the children and their parents contended
were acts of idolatry that violated biblical commands. Judge Richard A. Posner has said that
Justice Jackson’s effort “may be the most eloquent majority opinion in the history of the Supreme

Court.”

Barnette reached the Court as the nation
waged global war, a dire moment in history
that Part II of this article describes. For its
high drama and the endurance of its doctrine,
the case continues to engage historians and stu-
dents of the Court.> This article concerns the
singular eloquence pinpointed by Judge Posner
and others.* Justice Jackson adroitly balanced
two ingredients—reason and passion—that (as
Part ITI describes) have marked assessments of
rhetoric and human experience since ancient
times, that guided the nation’s Founders and

carly Presidents, that have now moved Presi-
dent Obama in both of his memoirs, and that
otherwise continue as dual touchstones fre-
quently applied in law and popular culture.
Few cases summon the high drama
that energized the Court in Barnette during
wartime, but (as Part IV describes) focusing
on reason and passion throughout the opinion-
writing process remains a useful judicial com-
pass today. Justice Jackson’s blend of these two
ingredients, and his mastery of the written lan-
guage, bequeathed a decision whose bedrock
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West Virginia State Board of Education’s resolution requiring all public-school students and teachers to salute
the flag and recite the Pledge of Allegiance each day followed quickly after Pearl Harbor was attacked.

First Amendment holding, according to Pro-
fessor Charles Alan Wright, “teems with vivid
expressions and memorable statements™ that
still enrich the fabric of the law as statements
of core American values.’

Il. “Among the Darkest Times in
Recent Memory”

Barnette’s record began in early January of
1942, barely a month after Japan attacked
the Pacific naval fleet at Pearl Harbor. His-
torian David McCullough recalls these days
as “[a]Jmong the darkest times in recent
memory.”® “Hitler’s armies were nearly to
Moscow; . .. German submarines were sink-
ing our oil tankers off the coasts of Florida
and New Jersey, within sight of the beaches,
and there was not a thing we could do about
it; . . . half our navy had been destroyed at Pearl

Harbor. We had scarcely any air force. Army
recruits were drilling with wooden rifles. And
there was no guarantee whatever that the Nazi
war machine could be stopped.””’

General James H. Doolittle’s daring
bombing raid over Tokyo and other Japanese
cities would buoy American morale, but the
raid was still a few months away (April 18).
So too were the first great American victo-
ries, in the Battle of the Coral Sea (May 4—
8) and at Midway Island (June 4-7). Without
the reassurance of hindsight available to later
generations who know the war’s outcome,
Americans in mid-winter 1942 remained res-
olute and committed, yet aware that the nation
faced an epic challenge to vanquish the Axis
Powers in total war.

In the weeks following Pearl Harbor, ap-
peals to patriotism summoning young and
old spread quickly from coast to coast. On
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January 9, 1942, the West Virginia State Board
of Education followed a number of other state
and local school boards by passing a resolu-
tion that required all public school students and
teachers to salute the flag and recite the Pledge
of Allegiance each day.® The West Virginia
resolution allowed no exemptions because, the
state board found, “national unity is the basis
of national security.”

Noncompliance carried draconian pun-
ishment. Where West Virginia schoolchildren
refused to salute or recite in their classrooms,
their parents faced imprisonment for violat-
ing compulsory education acts and citation
for child neglect, which might cause tem-
porary or permanent loss of custody.'® The
children themselves faced not only expulsion
from school, but also delinquency proceed-
ings and confinement for “insubordination” in
state reformatories, austere institutions notori-
ous for locking up vulnerable, dependent chil-
dren in close quarters with murderers, rapists
and other predatory and sometimes mentally
ill adolescent criminals under the supervision
of physically and emotionally abusive guards.

o

— o . > be — =1

In 1950, one study condemned the nation’s
juvenile reformatories as “incompatible with
human dignity,...a black record of human
tragedy, of social and economic waste, of
gross brutality, crass stupidity, totalitarian reg-
imentation . . . and a corroding monotony even
deadlier than physical violence.”"!

The brunt of statutes and resolutions like
West Virginia’s fell heavily on the Jehovah’s
Witnesses, a small religious group despised by
many Americans for their sometimes aggres-
sive public proselytizing and for their refusal
to serve in the military or to salute the flag
or recite the Pledge. And for their success in
court. When Justice Harlan Fiske Stone wrote
in 1941 that the Jehovah’s Witnesses “ought to
have an endowment in view of the aid which
they give in solving the legal problems of civil
liberties,”'? he was not dispensing gratuitous

praise; he was observing that the Witnesses
had appeared regularly in court to seek the
law’s refuge from dominant majorities, and had
frequently won.

In 1942, legislators and school authorities
in West Virginia and elsewhere stood on solid
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West Virginia parents faced imprisonment if their children did not comply with the flag-salute requirement.
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constitutional ground because only two years
earlier, in Minersville School District v. Go-
bitis, the Supreme Court had firmly rejected
religious freedom claims by Witnesses fami-
lies and held that the First Amendment per-
mitted states and localities to mandate flag
salutes and recitation of the Pledge in the pub-
lic schools.!* Less than three weeks before
the fall of France to the Nazis, Justice Felix
Frankfurter wrote for the eight-Justice Gob-
itis majority, and Justice Stone stood alone in
dissent despite Frankfurter’s private entreaties
for unanimity.!> “History teaches us,” Justice
Stone read from his dissent in open Court,
“that there have been but few infringements
of personal liberty by the state which have not
been justified . . . in the name of righteousness
and the public good, and few which have not
been directed . . . at politically helpless minori-
ties” such as the Witnesses.'® Justice Stone re-
jected “the position that government may, as a
supposed education measure and as a means
of disciplining the young, compel public af-
firmations which violate their religious con-
science.”!’

“Few Supreme Court decisions,” wrote
one historian, “have ever provoked as violent a
public reaction as the Gobitis opinion.”'® The
decision drew immediate condemnation from
more than 170 leading newspapers and sup-
port from only a few, but the swift reaction
extended beyond written words.!” The deci-
sion also unleashed a national wave of vigi-
lantism against the Witnesses, whose refusal
to salute or pledge allegiance to the flag ap-
peared disloyal or even treasonous to Ameri-
cans who perceived the salute and Pledge as
domestic obligations with war clouds loom-
ing and who feared domestic subversion (the
so-called Fifth Column). Witnesses families
suffered beatings, physical intimidation, and
property destruction from mobs, often while
local sheriffs and other law enforcement offi-
cers stood watching in evident approval, with-
out intervening to secure the victims’ safety.?’

“Because lawless mobs may have misun-
derstood [Gobitis’s] meaning is not in itself a

reason to change it,” wrote Justice Jackson’s
law clerk in an undated confidential memo-
randum.?! Most historians acknowledge, how-
ever, that the intensity of the post-Gobitis
brutality surprised and likely shocked Jus-
tices who had not anticipated such a bloody
backlash against the small, peaceable religious
group that had summoned their protection.??

In the wake of Gobitis, as many as 2,000
Witnesses children were expelled from the na-
tion’s public schools, and many of their par-
ents landed in criminal court.?*> On October
6, 1942, the special three-judge West Vir-
ginia federal district court hearing Barnette
v. West Virginia State Board of Education en-
joined enforcement of the board’s resolution
against more than a half dozen expelled Wit-
nesses children, including Walter Barnett’s two
young daughters, who attended Slip Hill Grade
School outside Charleston.?* The unanimous
panel decision was written by Fourth Circuit
Judge John J. Parker, who would have been
sitting on the Supreme Court except that the
Senate, by the scant margin of two votes, had
refused to confirm him after President Herbert
Hoover nominated him in 1930.%

The three-judge panel recognized that
lower courts ordinarily apply Supreme Court
precedents until the Court itself overrules
them, 26 but the panel declined to apply Go-
bitis, which the Court already appeared on the
verge of rejecting. Judge Parker noted that in
Jones v. City of Opelika (1942), another First
Amendment appeal brought by Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses, the Court had distinguished the ear-
lier decision and three members of the Gobitis
majority (Justices Hugo L. Black, William O.
Douglas and Frank Murphy) had called Gob-
itis “wrongly decided,”?” Justice Stone’s ear-
lier approach in dissent.

“Under such circumstances and believing,
as we do, that the flag salute here required is
violative of religious liberty when required of
persons holding the religious views of plain-
tiffs,” wrote Judge Parker, “we feel that we
would be recreant to our duty as judges, if
through a blind following of a decision which
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the Supreme Court itself has thus impaired
as an authority, we should deny protection to
rights which we regard as among the most sa-
cred of those protected by constitutional guar-
anties,”?8

Gobitis dissenter Justice Stone and the
two newest members of the Court, Justices
Robert H. Jackson and Wiley B. Rutledge, Jr.,
seemed poised to join the Opelika trio and
overrule the earlier decision. Jackson’s distaste
for Gobitis was known within the Roosevelt
administration while he was U.S. Attorney
General before his appointment to the Court
in 1941.° When Jackson wrote The Strug-
gle for Judicial Supremacy a few months

Justice Harlan Fiske
Stone (pictured) stood
alone in his dissent
in Gobitis, despite Jus-
tice Felix Frankfurter's
private entreaties for
unanimity in the wake
of France’s invasion by
Germany.

before he joined the Court, he cited Gobitis
as inconsistent with the Court’s usual “vigi-
lan[ce] in stamping out attempts by local au-
thorities to suppress the free dissemination of
ideas, upon which the system of responsible
democratic government rests.”? On the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia
Circuit, a few months before Judge Parker
wrote, Judge Rutledge dissented from a panel
decision that upheld the convictions of two
Jehovah’s Witnesses for selling their religious
literature on a public street without securing a
license or paying a tax.’! In an apparent ref-
erence to Gobitis, Rutledge lamented that the
Witnesses “have had to choose between their
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consciences and public education for their
children.”3?

The Supreme Court periodically over-
rules prior decisions, but rarely one so freshly
minted as the near-unanimous Gobitis. With
the nation and the world watching, and
with ultimate victory over the Axis by no
means assured, however, Gobitis fell in West
Virginia State Board of Education v. Bar-
nette, often remembered as the “second flag-
salute case.” With unmistakable symbolism,
the Court handed down the new decision on
Flag Day, June 14, 1943.

Barnette left Justice Frankfurter in dis-
sent, together with Justices Owen J. Roberts
and Stanley B. Reed, who tersely noted their
adherence to Gobitis but declined to join the
Frankfurter opinion.>* Responsibility for ex-
plaining the Court’s unusual about-face fell
to Justice Jackson, who may have seemed an
unlikely candidate for the role. Justice Stone
had ascended to the Chief Justiceship when
Charles Evans Hughes retired in 1941, and,
by assigning the Barnette opinion to himself,
he could have vindicated his lonely stand in
Gobitis for protecting “freedom of mind and
spirit,” an appeal to conscience that one his-
torian says “still ranks as one of the Court’s
finest dissents.”3* Whatever the reason for the
assignment, Justice Jackson did not disappoint
the confidence that the Chief Justice placed
in him.

Ill. Reason and Passion in Historical
Perspective

Barely a week after the announcement of Bar-
nette, Time magazine, under the headline “Blot
Removed,” wrote that the Court had “reaf-
firmed its faith in the Bill of Rights—which,
in 1940 [in Gobitis], it had come perilously
close to outlawing.” Justice Jackson accom-
plished his mission with a majority opinion
that balanced reason and passion, twin guide-
posts familiar to historians and observers of
contemporary American political and popular
culture.

As complementary and sometimes antag-
onistic forces for assessing performance or be-
havior, reason and passion hold an imposing
pedigree that now reaches to the highest levels
of our national life. In The Audacity of Hope,
Barack Obama wrote that “the Constitution en-
visions a road map by which we marry passion
to reason, the ideal of individual freedom to
the demands of community.”*® Discussing his
own religious upbringing in his earlier mem-
oir, Dreams from My Father, the future Pres-
ident also invoked the two forces, writing that
his grandmother’s family “read the Bible but
generally shunned the tent revival circuit, pre-
ferring a straight-backed form of Methodism
that valued reason over passion and temper-
ance over both.”’

The synergy of reason and passion dates
from ancient times. Plato asked in The
Republic whether “passion [is] different from
reason,” and concluded that “the one ruling
principle of reason [is] that reason ought to
rule.”® Aristotle said that “[a]ll the acts of
man are necessarily done from seven causes:
chance, nature, compulsions, habit, reason,
passion, desire.”3® “The law,” concluded Aris-
totle, “is reason free from passion.”*

The interplay between reason and pas-
sion helped shape American political thought
from the nation’s earliest years, beginning in
earnest with the writings of Alexander Hamil-
ton, James Madison, and John Jay in the Feder-
alist, the essays that throughout 1787 and 1788
advocated ratification of the Constitution by
the thirteen states. Federalist No. 15, for exam-
ple, argued strenuously for replacing the weak
Articles of Confederation because “the pas-
sions of men will not conform to the dictates
of reason and justice, without constraint.”*!

Federalist No. 49 argued for avoiding
frequent future constitutional conventions,
where “[t]he passions . . . not the reason, of the
public, would sit in judgment.”? “[I]t is the
reason of the public alone that ought to con-
troul and regulate the government,” the essay
explained. “The passions ought to be con-
trouled and regulated by the government.”*3
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Federalist No. 50 disparaged the outcomes of
earlier state constitutional conventions, where
“passion, not reason, must have presided.”**

Federalist No. 55 argued for limiting the
size of the House of Representatives because
“passion never fails to wrest the sceptre from
reason” in a multitude.*> “[TThe more numer-
ous any assembly may be,” Federalist No. 58
continued, “the greater is known to be the as-
cendency of passion over reason.”*¢ Federal-
ist No. 63 counted on the smaller Senate to
check the impulses of “the people stimulated
by some irregular passion, . . . until reason, jus-
tice and truth, can regain their authority over
the public mind.”*’

Long before George Washington presided
over the Constitutional Convention, impulses
to balance reason and passion guided his per-
sonal and public life. As a schoolboy not yet
sixteen, he had fulfilled a school exercise by
copying 110 “Rules of Civility and Decent
Behaviour in Company and Conversation,”
" drawn from an English translation of a book
that French Jesuits had compiled in the late
1500s.%® The 58th Rule left a lasting impres-
sion on the future President: “[I]n all Causes
of Passion [ad]mit Reason to Govern.”*

Washington’s personal and public life so
fully reflected the Rules that biographers have
regarded them as “formative influences in
the development of his character.”® In 1783,
for example, General Washington learned that
some of his officers privately planned a meet-
ing to discuss grievances against Congress,
which had not paid them promised salaries
or pensions; his Newburgh Address to the of-
ficers successfully dissuaded them from pur-
suing the plan, which he condemned as “ad-
dressed more to the feelings of passions than
to the reason & judgment of the army.”!

Shortly after returning home from
the Constitutional Convention in 1787,
Washington wrote that “[a]ll the opposition to
[the Constitution] is . .. addressed more to the
passions than to the reason.”? Weathering crit-
icism in 1795 that his administration yielded
too much to Britain in Jay’s Treaty, Washington

wrote to Attorney General Edmund Randolph
that he looked forward to a “time when passion
shall have yielded to sober reason.”> In his
Farewell Address in 1796, Washington warned
the nation not to “adopt[] through passion what
reason would reject,”* advice that he would
repeat during his brief retirement at Mount
Vernon before his death in 1799.5

As one of history’s great political philoso-
phers and as an opponent of the Federalists
before he became the nation’s third President,
Thomas Jefferson likely knew the writings of
the ancient Greeks and surely knew the influ-
ence of the Federalist essays. “Let nothing be
spared of either reason or passion,” Jefferson
wrote in 1810, “to preserve the public confi-
dence entire, as the only rock of our safety.”*
During the War of 1812, he opposed suspen-
sion of U.S. exports as “dictated by passion,
not by reason.”’

In one of his earliest published speeches,
delivered in 1838, twenty-eight-year-old
Abraham Lincoln spoke out against a rash of
lynchings for reflecting a “growing disposition
to substitute the wild and furious passions, in
lieu of the sober judgment of the Courts.”®
“Passion has helped us” by igniting the Rev-
olution that won independence from Britain,
the young Lincoln explained, but unrestrained
passion “will in future be our enemy. Reason,
cold, calculating, unimpassioned reason, must
furnish all the materials for our future support
and defence.”

Abolitionist leader and former slave
Frederick Douglass wrote more generally
about racial justice in 1855; “There is no rela-
tion more unfavorable to the development of
honorable character, than that sustained by the
slaveholder to the slave. Reason is imprisoned
here, and passions run wild.”®®

In our own time, voices in public-policy
debates frequently urge resort to reason, not
passion.%! The tandem also figures in Pres-
idential messages and, as it has since at least
1837, in House and Senate proceedings.®? Dur-
ing the House Judiciary Committee’s Water-
gate hearings in 1974, for example, Congress
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member Barbara Jordan of Texas riveted the
nation with her opening statement that “[i]t is
reason, and not passion, which must guide our
deliberations, guide our debate, and guide our
decision.”®3

Reason and passion also sometimes con-
strain judicial action. A civil judgment may be
overturned or reversed on appeal, for example,
when counsel’s appeal to juror bias produces
a verdict that “reflects passion rather than rea-
son.”® In cases charging capital crimes or
other serious offenses, courts and commen-
tators regularly summon jurors to return ver-
dicts, judges to impose sentences, and citizens
to retain attitudes that are grounded in reason,
free from passion.®

In a 2006 commencement address, Sec-
retary of State Condoleeza Rice told Boston
College graduates about “five important re-
sponsibilities of educated people,” including
“the commitment to reason” and “the respon-
sibility to find and follow your passion.”®
A year later, Massachusetts Governor Deval
Patrick told local community college gradu-
ates that “[t]he willingness to face down pas-
sion and fear with reason and courage . . . is the
hallmark of the active citizen.”’

Writers have advanced various formulas
for managing reason and passion.®® So too
have contemporary philosophers, political the-
orists, government figures, theologians and bi-
ographers, sometimes in the titles of books
whose discussion strives to balance the two.%
Commentators frequently cite the influence of
calibrated reason and passion on public affairs,
fiction and nonfiction books, movies, plays,
opera, music, and sports.”® Speaking to the La
Jolla (Calif.) Music Society in 2004, for exam-
ple, Justice Sandra Day O’Connor said that law
and music each represent “a fusion of reason
and passion.””!

IV. Reason and Passion in Judicial
Opinion-Writing

Throughout our nation’s history, much has
been said about the extent to which judges

can or should let personal feelings affect the
decision making process.”” The debate con-
tinues today as partisans frequently accuse op-
ponents of nominating and confirming “judi-
cial activists,” judges who assertedly decide
important cases based on their own personal
predilections rather than by strictly applying
precedents, statutes, and other relevant sources
of law.”

This debate is not the issue here. This arti-
cle concerns, not how judges reach decisions,
but how vigorous, forceful writing can jus-
tify and explain decisions to the lawyers and
parties; to future courts, lawyers, and litigants
under our system of stare decisis; and some-
times also to lay readers in cases such as Bar-
nette, which touch on matters of wider social
concern, The Court had decided Barnette by
internal debate and vote in conference before
Justice Jackson ever put pen to paper.

Judges write opinions, not as private citi-
zens, but as public officers vested by constitu-
tion and statute with authority to speak with the
force of law. Formulas do not decide cases, but
in constitutional and nonconstitutional deci-
sionmaking alike, “reason” loosely means ap-
plication of relevant legal doctrine to the facts,
and “passion” loosely means vigorous, force-
ful opinion-writing that justifies and explains
the decision’s grounding in fact and law.

On a collegial appellate court, the appro-
priate balance of reason and passion depends
in significant measure on whether the judge
1s writing a majority, concurring, or dissent-
ing opinion. The majority opinion determines
the parties’ rights and obligations while creat-
ing precedents and rationales for future cases.
Reason may rein in passion, because the writer
seeking to maintain the majority knows that
our system of precedent means that every para-
graph, sentence, and clause—including every
passage tinged with emotion—remains grist
for later citation and potential application. A
later court may find a particular passage to
constitute holding, or else to constitute dic-
tum warranting distinction or some measure
of persuasive effect, but the passage’s effect
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as a source of law derives from the court’s
constitutional and statutory authority to decide
cases.

Writers of concurring and dissenting
opinions may feel less constrained because
their writings, by themselves, make no imme-
diate law. If the writer so chooses, a concur-
rence, and particularly a dissent, can rely more
on passion, freer from the need to maintain a
coalition or to exercise circumspection in de-
cision making. Dean Roscoe Pound said that
on a court of last resort, a dissenting opinion
“should express [the judge’s] reason, not his
feelings.”™ At one time or another, however,
most of the recent Justices have seen the media
call their dissents “passionate.””

“A dissent in a court of last resort,” wrote
Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes is, “an
appeal to the brooding spirit of the law, to the
intelligence of a future day, when a later deci-
sion may possibly correct the error into which
the dissenting judge believes the court to have
been betrayed.”’® The dissenter’s appeal to
posterity stands a better chance, however, with
a disciplined dose of reason than with scarcely
restrained passion. From one era to the next,
Justices such as Oliver Wendell Holmes and
John Marshall Harlan have held the title of a
“Great Dissenter,” but their influential dissents
(like Justice Stone’s Gobitis dissent) persuaded
future Courts with reasoned legal blueprints
delivered forcefully, and not with unadorned
fist-pounding or shrill emotion.

Barnette demonstrates that focused pas-
sion may also invigorate a majority opin-
ion’s reasoned analysis. From the outset, ev-
ery participant in the flag-salute drama sensed
the high stakes at issue. Few claims of right
command greater respect than sincere invo-
cations of religious liberty, and few justifica-
tions for government action command greater
force than invocations of national security in
wartime. As the Court fulfilled its constitu-
tional responsibility to apply the First Amend-
ment during the struggle against totalitarian
regimes, Justice Jackson sought to instruct
that Americans would tolerate personal con-

science, even when reverence for the flag was
at stake.

The reasoned instruction would have
fallen flat if Barnette’s majority had deliv-
ered what then-Professor Felix Frankfurter
had disparaged in 1931 as “the inevitable
lawyer’s writing—the dull qualifications and
circumlocutions that sink any literary bar-
que or even freighter, the lifeless tags and
rags that preclude grace and stifle spontane-
ity.””” Turgid legalese would have decided the
case for the parties, but would also likely
have destined the decision for little more than
swift deposit in the U.S. Reports, barely re-
membered among later decisions that would
reaffirm similar constitutional propositions.
Instead, Justice Jackson assured Barnette’s
immortality by combining reason with pas-
sion to dismantle the four specific grounds
that Justice Frankfurter had advanced in
Gobitis.

Gobitis Ground #1: Granting some pub-
lic school children exemptions from
mandatory flag salute and recitation of
the Pledge of Allegiance would make
the government appear “too weak to
maintain its own existence.”’®
Justice Jackson scoffed at the notion that
“the strength of government to maintain itself
would be impressively vindicated by our con-
firming power of the state to expel a handful of
children from school.””? “Government of lim-
ited power need not be anemic government,”
he continued, with passion accompanying the
statement of reason. “Assurance that rights
are secure tends to diminish fear and jealousy
of strong government, and by making us feel
safe to live under it makes for its better sup-
port. ... To enforce [the Bill of Rights] today
is not to choose weak government over strong
government. It is only to adhere as a means
of strength to individual freedom of mind in
preference to officially disciplined uniformity
for which history indicates a disappointing and
disastrous end.”%?
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Gobitis Ground #2: By creating consti-
tutionally based exemptions to manda-
tory in-school flag salutes, federal
judges would become “the school board
for the country.”®!
The Fourteenth Amendment, Justice Jackson
countered, “protects the citizen against the
State itself and all of its creatures—Boards of
Education not excepted.”® Once again, pas-
sion took center stage. School boards “have,
of course, important, delicate, and highly dis-
cretionary functions, but none that they may
not perform within the limits of the Bill of
Rights. That they are educating the young for
citizenship is reason for scrupulous protection
of Constitutional freedoms of the individual,
if we are not to strangle the free mind at its
source and teach youth to discount important
principles of our government as mere plati-
tudes.”®?

Gobitis Ground #3: Because exemp-
tions from mandatory in-school flag
salutes raise disciplinary issues beyond
the competence of federal judges, ex-
emptions should be won at the ballot
box and not in the courts.?*
“The very purpose of a Bill of Rights,” Jus-
tice Jackson responded with a firm passionate
voice, “was to withdraw certain subjects from
the vicissitudes of political controversy, to
place them beyond the reach of majorities and
officials and to establish them as legal princi-
ples to be applied by the courts. One’s right to
life, liberty, and property, to free speech, a free
press, freedom of worship and assembly, and
other fundamental rights may not be submit-
ted to vote; they depend on the outcome of no
elections.”®
“[W]e act in these matters,” Justice
Jackson continued, “not by authority of our
competence but by force of our commissions.
We cannot, because of modest estimates of our
competence in such specialties as public edu-
cation, withhold the judgment that history au-
thenticates as the function of this Court when
liberty is infringed.”?¢

Gobitis Ground #4: The Constitu-
tion permits mandatory in-school flag
salutes because “[t]he ultimate founda-
tion of a free society is the binding tie
of cohesive sentiment.”®’
“Those who begin coercive elimination of dis-
sent,” Justice Jackson wrote, “soon find them-
selves exterminating dissenters. Compulsory
unification of opinion achieves only the una-
nimity of the graveyard.”%?

“[W1e apply the limitations of the Consti-
tution,” he explained, “with no fear that free-
dom to be intellectually and spiritually diverse
or even contrary will disintegrate the social
organization.”®

To believe that patriotism will not
flourish if patriotic ceremonies are
voluntary and spontaneous instead of
a compulsory routine is to make an
unflattering estimate of the appeal of
our institutions to free minds. We can
have intellectual individualism and
the rich cultural diversities that we
owe to exceptional minds only at the
price of occasional eccentricity and
abnormal attitudes. When they are so
harmless to others or to the State as
those we deal with here, the price is
not too great. But freedom to differ
is not limited to things that do not
matter much. That would be a mere
shadow of freedom. The test of its
substance is the right to differ as to
things that touch the heart of the ex-
isting order.*

Justice Jackson closed his opinion with a
reasoned, yet passionate endorsement of indi-
vidual freedom that has been called “the most
illuminating definition of Americanism in the
history of the Court”: “If there is any fixed star
in our constitutional constellation, it is that no
official, high or petty, can prescribe what shall
be orthodox in politics, nationalism, religion,
or other matters of opinion or force citizens to
confess by word or act their faith therein. !
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V. Conclusion

A. “The Freedom to Disagree”
Because Justice Jackson was such a graceful
writer, Justice Frankfurter reminisced years
later, “his style sometimes stole attention

B. “[A]n Excellent Writer, Period”
“Solicitor General for life” was the title that
Justice Louis D..Brandeis would have con-
ferred on Robert H. Jackson, who argued
more than four dozen appeals in the Supreme
Court as Assistant Attorney General, Solicitor

from the substance.”®? Justice Jackson’s dex- ~General, and Attorney General before his ap-

trous admixture of reason and passion, how-
ever, should not overshadow the durability
of Barnette’s First Amendment holding. Go-
bitis had applied the First Amendment’s re-
ligion clauses. By ruling instead under the
First Amendment’s Speech Clause, Barnette
conferred rights on all claimants who es-
tablish entitlement, not solely on claimants
moved by religious belief.>> After more than
sixty years, Barnette remains the basis for the
First Amendment right to “refrain from speak-
ing.”%*

The distinction between a narrower reli-
gious freedom and a broader expressive free-
dom retains contemporary significance. In
2009, for example, ten-year-old Will Phillips,
a fifth grader at the West Fork Middle School
in Washington County, Arkansas, refused to
stand and join his classmates in reciting the
Pledge of Allegiance. The reason, he said,
was that “I really don’t feel that there’s cur-
rently liberty and justice for all” because
gays and lesbians could not exercise such
rights as the right to marry and the right to
adopt children.®> Much like the Gobitas and
Barnett children, who were about Will’s age
when they and their families took their stand
decades earlier, Will endured taunts and harsh
words from some classmates but support from
others.%

Will Phillips and his supportive parents
made no claim of religious freedom, but school
authorities recognized that Barnette squarely
confers the First Amendment right to free ex-
pression that the young man sought to exercise.
Asked what it means to be an American, Will
responded, “Freedom of speech. The freedom
to disagree. That’s what I think pretty much
being an American represents.”®’

pointment to the Court in 1941.%% But Justice
Jackson leaves a record as much more than
a lawyer who, as Justice Frankfurter put it,
approachéd\t_ﬁe bar “specially endowed as an
advocate.”?

Justice Antonin Scalia calls Justice
Jackson his “hero,” someone who “wrote
beautiful opinions and was on the right side of
things, t0o.”'® Professor Charles Alan Wright
went a significant step further, calling Jus-
tice Jackson “the best writer ever to sit on the
Court.”'%!

Justice Jackson achieved his lofty status as
the Court’s paramount writer without relying
heavily on law clerks or other ghostwriters to
compose his work or turn a phrase for him. At
President Harry S Truman’s request, he took
a leave of absence from the Court in 1945 to
serve as chief United States prosecutor at the
Nuremberg war-crimes trials. A young assis-
tant, assigned to help prepare Jackson’s closing
argument to the international tribunal a year
later, felt hurt when the Justice did not use any
of his draft. Only later did the assistant learn
that “Jackson did not like ‘ghosts.” He felt that
the words of a speaker or writer should be his
own words and not those of another.”!%2

In 1957, former Jackson law clerk
William H. Rehnquist attested that “[e]Jven a
casual acquaintance with [Justice Jackson’s]
opinions during the 13 years he served on the
Court indicates that he neither needed nor used
ghost writers.”!% “The great majority of opin-
ions which he wrote,” Rehnquist continued,
“were drafted originally by him and submitted
to his clerks for their criticism and sugges-
tions. Frequently such a draft would be batted
back and forth between the Justice and the par-
ticular clerk working on it several times. The
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Robert H. Jackson has been lauded as the best writer ever to sit on the Supreme Court. He did not attend
college; other than apprenticing, his only formal education after high school was one year at Albany Law
School.

contributions of the clerk by way of research,
organization and, to a lesser extent, method of
approach, was often substantial. But the end
product was unquestionably the Justice’s own,
both in form and in substance.”'%

before Barnette, Justice
Jackson had stressed the Court’s responsi-
bility to “do our utmost to make clear and
easily understandable the reasons for decid-
ing...cases as we do.”'" Barnette delivered
on the promise with a clear exposition of rea-
son and passion because Justice Jackson held
a distinct personal advantage. “Good legal
writing,” says Professor Richard C. Wydick,
“does not sound as though it had been written
by a lawyer.”'% Justice Jackson left a legacy
of eloquence because, as in Barnette, he in-
deed did not “write like a lawyer.” Professor
Fred Rodell even speculated that Justice Jack-
son “wrote so unlegally well-—with the force

Six  weeks

of plain and pointed talk replacing lawyers’
jargon—because he never went through law
school nor won a law degree; indeed,...he
never even went through college, and one un-
graduating year of law study ... was his only
formal education after high school.”!??

Justice Jackson was a largely self-taught
writer, and he was both a skilled teacher
and an avid learner. In 2003, Chief Justice
Rehnquist was right that his mentor “was not
simply an excellent legal writer, he was an ex-
cellent writer, period.”!%%

ENDNOTES

! West Virginia State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette,
319 U.S. 624 (1943).

Richard A. Posner, The Problems of Ju-
risprudence 147 (1990).

3See, e.g., David R. Manwaring, Render
Unto Caesar: The Flag-Salute Controversy



42 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

(1962); Shawn Francis Peters, Judging Jeho-
vah’s Witnesses: Religious Persecution and
the Dawn of the Rights Revolution (2000);
Vincent Blasi and Seana V. Shiffrin, “The
Story of West Virginia State Board of Edu-
cation v. Barnette: The Pledge of Allegiance
and the Freedom of Thought,” in Constitu-
tional Law Stories 443—45 (Michael C. Dorf
ed., 2004); Irving Dilliard, “The Flag Salute
Cases,” in Quarrels That Have Shaped the
Constitution (John A. Garraty ed., 1988);
“The Flag Salute Cases,” in The Pursuit
of Justice: Supreme Court Decisions That
Shaped America (Kermit L. Hall & John J.
Patrick eds., 2006); Robert L. Tsai, “Recon-
sidering Gobitis: An Exercise in Presidential
Leadership,” 86 Wash. U. L. Rev. 363 (2008);
Charles Alan Wright, “My Favorite Opinion—
The Second Flag-Salute Case,” 74 Tex. L. Rev.
1297 (1996).

4See, e.g., Blasi and Shiffrin, supra note 3,
at 448 (calling Barnette’s majority opinion
“among the most eloquent to be found in the
whole of the U.S. Reports”); “The Flag Salute
Cases” (Hall & Patrick), supra note 3, at 101
(“one of the greatest statements on civil liber-
ties ever written”); Tsai, supra note 3, at 365
(discussing the “sparkling decision penned by
Robert H. Jackson™).

SWright, supra note 3, at 1299.

éDavid McCullough, “The Course of Human
Events,” National Endowment for the Human-
ities: 2003 Jefferson Lecture in the Humani-
ties: David McCullough Lecture, available at
http://www.neh.gov/whoweare/mcculloughol;

lecture.html (last visited Feb. 12, 2011).

"1d.

8Peter Irons, The Courage of Their Convic-
tions 16 (1988).

®West Virginia State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette,
319 U.S. 624, 626 (1943).

0Barnette, 319 U.S. at 626, 629-30; Peters,
supra note 3, at 164-77.

Albert Deutsch, Our Rejected Children
xix, 162 (1950).

12Peters, supra note 3, at 186.

131d. at 12-13, 183.

Y pinersville School District v. Gobitis, 310
U.S. 586, 595, 626 (1940), overruled, West Vir-
ginia State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 U.S.
624 (1943).

SDilliard, supra note 3, at 294-96; “The Flag
Salute Cases” (Hall & Patrick), supra note 3,
at 97.

16Gobitis, 310 U.S. at 604 (Stone, J., dissent-
ing); Dilliard, supra note 3, at 297-98.
17Gobitis, 310 U.S. at 602.

81rons, supra note 8, at 22; see also Shawn
Francis Peters, “Rehearing ‘Fighting Words’:
Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire in Retrospect,”
24 J Sup. Ct. Hist. 282, 283-84 (1999).
Dilliard, supra note 3, at 298.

20Peters, supra note 3, at 8-16, 72-152.
21Robert L. Tsai, “The Law Clerk’s Memo to
Robert Jackson in Barnette,” Legal History
Blog, Apr. 16, 2009, available at http://legal
historyblog.blogspot.com/2009/04/law-clerks
-memo-to-robert-jackson-in.html (last visited
Feb. 12,2011).

28ee, e.g., Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S.
158, 447-48 (1944) (Murphy, J., dissenting)
(the Jehovah’s Witnesses “have suffered bru-
tal beatings; their property has been destroyed,;
they have been harassed at every turn by the
resurrection and enforcement of little used or-
dinances and statutes”); Blasi and Shiffrin,
supra note 3, at 443-45; Peters, supra note
3, at 237-38, 251 (discussing reaction on the
Supreme Court); “The Flag Salute Cases”
(Hall and Patrick), supra note 3, at 97; but
see Tsai, supra note 3, at 374 (“The Justices
might have been horrified at the ferocity of the
reprisals, but they would have been unbeliev-
ably naive to think that their original decision
did not expose recalcitrant students and their
parents to a series of collateral legal and extra-
legal ramifications.”).

23Blasi and Shiffrin, supra note 3, at 445,

2 Barnette v. West Va. State Bd. of Educ., 47
F. Supp. 251 (S.D.W.Va. 1942), aff'd, 319 U.S.
624 (1943); David L. Hudson, Jr., “Woman
in Barnette Reflects on Famous Flag-Salute
Case,” Dec. 28, 2009, First Amendment Cen-
ter, available at http://www.firstamendment



JUSTICE JACKSON AND THE SECOND FLAG-SALUTE CASE 43

center.org/analysis.aspx?id=22441 (last vis-
ited Feb. 12, 2011). The Barnett and Gobitas
families achieved different outcomes in
the Supreme Court, but they shared a
common legacy: because of evident clerks’ er-
rors below, the Court’s decisions misspelled
their surnames.

2See, e.g., Paul Freund, “Appointment of
Justices: Some Historical Perspectives,” 101
Harv. L. Rev. 1146, 1154 (1988) (41-39
vote); Ernesto J. Sanchez, “John J. Parker
and the Beginning of the Modern Confir-
mation Process,” 32 J Sup. Ct. Hist. 22
(2007).

26 Barnette, 47 F. Supp. at 253; see also, e.g.,
Hohn v. United States, 524 U.S. 236, 252-53
(1998).

27 Jones v. City of Opelika, 316 U.S. 584, 623~
24 (1942) (dissenting opinion); see also Bar-
nette, 47 F. Supp. at 253.

28 Barnette, 47 F. Supp. at 253.

2Tsai, supra note 3, at 397-98.

30Robert H. Jackson, The Struggle
for Judicial Supremacy 284 & n48
(1941).

3 Busey v. District of Columbia, 129 F.2d 24
(D.C. Cir. 1942) (Rutledge, I., dissenting), va-
cated and remanded, 319 U.S. 579 (1942), on
remand, 138 F.2d 592 (D.C. Cir. 1943).
32Busey, 129 F.2d at 38.

3 Barnette, 31 U.S. at 642-43.

34 Minersville School District v. Gobitis, 310
U.S. 586, 606 (1940) (Stone, J., dissenting);
Peters, supra note 3, at 60.

3«Judiciary: Blot Removed,” Time, June 21,
1943, available at http://www.time.com/time/
magazine/article/0,9171,766726,00.html]?
internalid = ACA (last visited Feb. 12, 2011).
%6Barack Obama, The Audacity of Hope:
Thoughts on Reclaiming the American
Dream 113 (2008).

37Barack Obama, Dreams from My Father:
A Story of Race and Inheritance 14 (2004).
38plato, The Republic, Book IV, at 15962 (B.
Jowett, ed., 1960).

39The Rhetoric of Aristotle, 1.10, at 57 (Lane
Cooper, ed., 1932).

40 Aristotle, The Politics of Aristotle 146
(Ernest Baker, trans., 1946).

4I'The Federalist, The Federalist No. 15, at 89,
96 (Jacob E. Cooke, ed., 1961).

21d., The Federalist No. 49, at 338, 343 (em-
phasis in original).

Brd.

441d., The Federalist No. 50, at 343, 346 (em-
phasis in original).

*Id., The Federalist No. 55, at 372, 374.
414, The Federalist No. 58, at 391, 395-96.
471d., The Federalist No. 63, at 422, 425. See
also, e.g., id., The Federalist No. 10, at 56,
58 (1787) (Jacob E. Cooke, ed., 1961) (dis-
cussing the likelihood that political factions
would arise in a political democracy: “As long
as the connection subsists between [a man’s]
reason and his self-love, his opinions and his
passions will have a reciprocal influence on
each other.”); id., The Federalist No. 42, at
279, 283 (urging a strong congressional com-
merce power lest the commercial states’ “pas-
sion” for revenue drown out the “mild voice
of reason” counseling national unity); id., The
Federalist No. 48, at 332, 333-34 (1788) (stat-
ing that the executive and legislative branches
would counterbalance one another “where the
legislative power is exercised by an assembly,
which is. .. sufficiently numerous to feel all
the passions which actuate a multitude; yet not
so numerous as to be incapable of pursuing the
objects of its passions, by means which reason
prescribes”).

“8George Washington’s Rules of Civility &
Decent Behaviour In Company and Conver-
sation (Charles Moore ed., 1926); see also id.
at X, Xiv.

“Id. at 13 (brackets in original).

014, at ix.

S1Quoted in David Ramsay, The Life
of George Washington ch. 9, “Archiving
Early America,” available at http://www.early
america.com/lives/gwlife/chapt9/ (last visited
Feb. 12, 2011).

52George Washington to Charles Carter (Dec.
14, 1787), The George Washington Papers
at the Library of Congress, 1741-1799,



44 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

available at http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/
query/r?ammem/mgw:@field(DOCID-+@]it(
gw290261)) (last visited Feb. 12, 2011).
3George Washington to Edmund Randolph
(July 31, 1795), The George Washington Pa-
pers at the Library of Congress, 1741-1799,
available at http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/
query/r?ammem/mgw:@field(DOCID+@lit
(gw340194)) (last visited Feb. 12, 2011).
4George Washington, “Washington’s Farewell
Address 1796, available at http://avalon.
law.yale.edu/18th_century/washing.asp (last
visited Feb. 12, 2011).

33George Washington to John Luzac, Dec.
2, 1797, The George Washington Papers at
the Library of Congress, 1741-1799, avail-
able at http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/query/r?
ammenymgw:@field(DOCID+@]lit(gw3600
82)) (last visited Feb. 12, 2011) (“In times
of turbulence, when the passions are afloat,
calm reason is swallowed up in the extremes
to [which] measures are attempted to be
carried.”).

35Thomas Jefferson to Caesar A. Rodney,
Feb. 10, 1810, The Thomas Jefferson Papers
at the Library of Congress, available at http://
memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/query/r?ammem/mtj: @
field(DOCID+@lit(tj110070)) (last visited
Feb. 12, 2011).

Y Thomas Jefferson to William Short, June
18, 1813, The Thomas Jefferson Papers at
the Library of Congress, available at http:/
memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/query/r?ammem/mtj:@
field(DOCID+@lit(ws03051)) (last visited
Feb. 12, 2011).

38 Abraham Lincoln, “The Perpetuation of
Our Political Institutions: Address Before the
Young Men’s Lyceum of Springfield, I11., Jan.
27, 1838,” in Abraham Lincoln: A Doc-
umentary Portrait Through His Speeches
and Writings 35-36 (Don E. Fehrenbacher
ed., 1977).

1d. at 43.

Frederick Douglass, My Bondage and My
Freedom 32 (John Stauffer, ed., 2003).
61See, e.g., “When Passion, Not Reason,
Rules,” San Francisco Chronicle, Aug. 6,

2004, at B8 (editorial) (California’s “three
strikes” sentencing law); “Do More for Bilin-
gual Ed? Yes Judge’s Ruling of State’s Fail-
ure Is No Surprise,” Ariz. Republic, Feb. 3,
2000, at 6B (bilingual education); William E.
Gibson, “Bill Lowers Cuban Refugee Status,”
Sun-Sentinel (Fort Lauderdale, Fla.), Mar. 15,
1995, at 3A (immigration bill concerning
Cuban refugees; quoting Sen. Paul Simon:
“Qur policy toward Cuba is one that has grown
out of passion, not reason.”).

62See Gilbert A. Lewthwaite, “Clinton Sees
U.S. Keeping a Global Role,” Baltimore Sun,
Oct. 7, 1995, at 1A (President Clinton urged
Congress to approve sending troops to Bosnia
peacekeeping mission; “We must . . . beat back
the forces of isolation with both intense pas-
sion and reason”); 13 Cong. Deb. 395 (1837)
(remarks of Sen. Judah Dana; Senate reso-
lution censuring President Andrew Jackson
threatened to set a harmful precedent for
“some future period of great excitement, when
passion and prejudice shall triumph over rea-
son”); see also, e.g., 146 Cong. Rec. S 11552,
11553 (Dec. 5, 2000) (remarks of Sen. Biden
on the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 2000; “I
hope reason will overcome passion.”);136
Cong. Rec. S 8355, 8355 (June 20, 1990) (re-
marks of Sen. Akaka on the Flag Protection
Act of 1990; “we should be guided by the light
of reason, not the heat of political passion™).
®Barbara Jordan, “Opening Statement to
the House Judiciary Committee, Proceed-
ings on the Impeachment of Richard Nixon,”
July 25, 1974, available at http://gos.sbc.edu/
j/jordan3.html (last visited Feb. 12, 2011).

4 Gilbert v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., 685
N.W.2d 391, 395 (Mich. 2004) (reversing $21
million plaintiff’s verdict in sexual harassment
case).

%See, e.g., Post v. Ohio, 484 US. 1079,
1082 (1982) (Marshall, J., dissenting) (reject-
ing “license to conclude that judges are inhu-
man, incapable of being moved by passion as
well as by reason”); Joshua Berman, “A Tri-
umph for U.S. Justice: The Moussaoui Trial
Could Easily Have Turned Into a Circus,” Chi.



JUSTICE JACKSON AND THE SECOND FLAG-SALUTE CASE 45

Sun-Times, May 9, 2006, at 32 (praising the
jury for “balanc[ing] reason and passion by
focusing on the facts” in trial of alleged ter-
rorist); Bill Press, “Closed-Circuit TV Death
of McVeigh Is a Sick, New Low,” Orlando
(Fla.) Sentinel, Apr. 15, 2001, at G3 (arguing
that U.S. Justice Department decision to per-
mit closed-circuit televising of the execution
of Oklahoma City bomber Timothy McVeigh
“undermines our system of justice—letting
passion, not reason, rule); Carl Rowan, “Rea-
son Yields to Passion in O.J. Aftermath,” Chi.
Sun-Times, Oct. 15, 1995, at 39.

6«Secretary Condoleeza Rice Commence-
ment Address at Boston College,” May 22,
2006, on Educated Nation: Higher Education
Blog, June 6, 2006, available at http://www.
educatednation.com/2006/06/06/secretary-
condoleezza-rice-commencement-address-
at-boston-college/ (last visited Feb. 12,
2011).

7Connie Paige, “Patrick Rips Bush in Com-
mencement Speech—Says Nation Is Governed
by Fear,” Boston Globe, May 18, 2007, at B3.
%See, e.g., John Locke, “The Second Treatise
of Government,” 13, 87-91, 125, in Two Trea-
tises of Government 293-94, 341-44, 369 (P.
Laslett ed., 1960) (“I desire to know what kind
of government that is, and how much better
it is than the State of Nature, where one Man
commanding a multitude, has the Liberty to
be Judge in his own Case, and may do to all
his Subjects whatever he pleases, without the
least liberty to any one to question or con-
trole those who Execute his Pleasure? And in
whatsoever he doth, whether led by Reason,
Mistake, or Passion, must be submitted t0?”);
Alexander Pope, Essay on Man, Epistle ii,
line 107 (1733-34) (“On life’s vast ocean di-
versely we sail, Reason the card, but passion
is the gale.”); Robert C. Solomon, No Pas-
sion’s Slave: Emotions and Choice 127 (rev.
ed. 2001) (quoting British philosopher David
Hume); William James, “Reason, Passion and
the Religious Hypothesis,” in William James,
The Will to Believe and Other Essays in Pop-
ular Philosophy, ch. 1 (1897); see also Khalil

Gibran, The Prophet 45 (1923) (“Your reason
and your passion are the rudder and sails of
your seafaring soul.”).

89See, e.g., David A. Wilson, Thomas D’Arcy
McGee: Passion, Reason, and Politics,
1825-1857 (2008); Christopher Tilmouth,
Passion’s Triumph over Reason: A History
of the Moral Imagination from Spenser to
Rochester (2005); Cheryl Hall, The Trou-
ble with Passion: Political Theory Beyond
the Reign of Reason (2005); Richard S.
Lazarus & Bernice N. Lazarus, Passion and
Reason: Making Sense of Our Emotions
(1994); Michael T. Kaufman, “Pierre Trudeau
Is Dead at 80: Dashing Fighter for Canada,”
N.Y. Times, Sept. 29, 2000, at A1 (discussing
former Canadian Prime Minister Trudeau’s
motto: “Reason Before Passion”).

"0Terence Samuel, “Bradley’s Greatest Mis-
take Was to Run against Clinton’s Legacy,”
St. Louis Post-Dispatch, Mar. 12, 2000, at
All (arguing that Sen. Bill Bradley faltered
in the 2000 Presidential primaries because
“by design or by inclination, he is a man
of reason rather than of passion”); Robert
Parham, “Baptist of the Year: Al Gore,”
Dec. 28, 2007, EthicsDaily.com, Dec. 28,
2007, available at http://www.ethicsdaily.com/
news.php?viewStory=12082 (last visited Feb.
12, 2011) (Baptist Center for Ethics named
former Vice President Al Gore “Baptist of
the Year” for his “clear call for moral respon-
sibility, knitting together...reason and pas-
sion”); see also, e.g., Simon Houpt, “Rad-
cliffe’s Great, but the Play’s an Old Nag,”
Globe & Mail (Canada), Sept. 28, 2008
(play); Andrew Druckenbrod, “Opera The-
ater Courts Byham as Its Venue,” Pittsburgh
Post-Gazette, Sept. 24, 2007, at E-1 (opera);
Nate Chinen, “Three Bandleaders With Rap-
port First,” N.¥. Times, Sept. 8, 2008, at 3
(music); Michael Ciment, “The Godfather:
Coppola, Scorcese, Stone, and Loach Have
All Been Influenced by Francesco Rosi,”
The Guardian (London), Dec. 3, 2005, at 14
(movie); Toni Bentley, “A ‘Hyena in Petti-
coats,”” N.Y. Times, May 29, 2005, at 5 (book);



46 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

Hugh MacDonald, “Don’t Look to Footballers
for Role Models,” The Herald (Glasgow),
Jan. 8, 2004, at 3 (sports).

T"Mark Swed, “Justice O’Connor Fails to
Make Case,” L.A. Times, Aug. 14, 2004, at 1.
2See, e.g., Benjamin N. Cardozo, The Na-
ture of the Judicial Process 167—68 (1921);
William J. Brennan, Jr., “Reason, Passion and
‘the Progress of the Law,”” 42nd Annual Ben-
jamin N. Cardozo Lecture, 10 Cardozo L. Rev.
3,3 (1988).

3See Judicial Activism against Arizona,
Wash. Times, July 29, 2010, at B2 (editorial)
(Democratic appointee’s “judicial activism is
out of step with the law, out of step with pol-
itics and out of step with the good of the
country”); “Clean Water at Risk,” N.Y. Times,
June 20, 2006, at 16 (editorial) (“For all the
talk of liberal judicial activists, it was Jus-
tice Antonin Scalia and his fellow conserva-
tives who voted to substitute their own pref-
erences for a decision made by the execu-
tive branch . . . interpreting a statute passed by
Congress.”).

"Roscoe Pound, “The Heated Judicial Dis-
sent,” 39 Am. Bar Ass’n J 794, 796-97
(1953).

3See, e.g., Charles Lane, “Court Splits Over
Commandments,” Wash. Post, June 28, 2005,
at Al (Justice Scalia); David G. Savage,
“Thousands of Cases in Doubt After Decision
on Sentencing,” L.A. Times, June 26, 2004, at
A1S (Justices O’Connor and Breyer); David
Von Drehle, “Court Mirrors Public Opinion,”
Wash. Post, June 24, 2003, at Al (Justice
Thomas); “A Blow to Sexual Bullying,” Hart-
ford Courant, June 3, 1999, at A14 (Justice
Kennedy); Joan Biskupic, “Viewing More As
an Affair of States,” Wash. Post, Apr. 1, 1999,
at A10 (Justices Stevens, Souter, Ginsburg
and Breyer); James J. Kilpatrick, “Marshall’s
Power Was In His Passion for Justice,” The
Oregonian (Portland, Ore.), Jan. 26, 1993, at
B9 (Justice Marshall); David G. Savage, “Af-
ter 33 Years, Brennan Is Still for Underdogs,”
L.A. Times, Oct. 1, 1989, at 1 (Justice Bren-

nan); Anthony Lewis, “Glimmers of Hope in
Abortion Rulings,” St. Louis Post-Dispatch,
July 9, 1989, at 3B (Justice Blackmun).
"Charles Evans Hughes, The Supreme
Court of the United States 68 (1928); see
also, e.g., William O. Douglas, “The Dissent:
A Safeguard of Democracy,” 32 J. Am. Jud.
Soc’y 104, 107 (1948) (a dissent “may salvage
for tomorrow the principle that was sacrificed
or forgotten today”).

"TFelix Frankfurter, “When Judge Car-
dozo Writes,” The New Republic, Apr. 8§,
1931, available at http://www.tnr.com/article/
politics/when-judge-cardozo-writes (last vis-
ited Feb. 12, 2011).

8 Minersville School District v. Gobitis, 310
U.S. 586, 596 (1940).

" West Virginia State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette,
319 U.S. 624, 636 (1943).

8 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 636-37.

81 Gobitis, 310 U.S. at 598.

8 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 637.

8 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 637.

8 Gobitis, 310 U.S. at 597.

83 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 638.

86 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 640.

87 Gobitis, 310 U.S. at 596.

8 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 641.

8 Barnette, 319 U.S. at 641.

% Barnette, 319 U.S. at 641-42.

°INat Hentoff, Living the Bill of Rights 143
(1998) (“most illuminating™); Barnette, 319
U.S. at 642,

92Felix Frankfurter, “Mr. Justice Jackson,” 68
Harv. L. Rev. 937, 938 (1955).

% Barnette, 319 U.S. at 634-35.

%4See, e.g., Wooley v. Maynard, 430 U.S. 705,
714 (1977) (citing Barnette for this proposi-
tion).

%David Koon, “A Boy and His Flag,” Ark.
Times, Nov. 11, 2009.

974.; see also James F. Van Orden, “‘Jehovah
Will Provide’: Lillian Gobitas and Freedom of
Religion,” 29 J. Sup. Ct. Hist. 136, 137, 142
(2004).

97Koon, supra note 95.



JUSTICE JACKSON AND THE SECOND FLAG-SALUTE CASE 47

8E. Barrett Prettyman, Jr., “Robert H. Jack-
son: ‘Solicitor General for Life,”” 1992 J. Sup.
Ct. Hist. 75, 75-76, 83, 84 n.69.
9Frankfurter, supra note 92, at 939; see also
“Advice from Justice Jackson,” 5 J. App. Prac.
& Process 215,216 (2003) (“one of the great-
est appellate advocates of his generation.”).
100<A " Voice for the Write: Tips on Making
Your Case from a Supremely Reliable Source,”
94 ABA. J. 37,40 (May 2008).

101 Charles Alan Wright, supra note 3, at 1299.
102Henry T. King, Jr., “Remarks,” in Sympo-
sium: The Nuremberg Trials: A Reappraisal
and Their Legacy, 27 Cardozo L. Rev. 1553,
1558 (2006).

103William H. Rehnquist, “Who Writes Deci-
sions of the Supreme Court?,” U.S. News &
World Rep., Dec. 13, 1957, at 74-75 (1957).
10474

195 Douglas v. City of Jeannette, 319 U.S. 157,
182 (1943) (separate opinion).

106Richard C. Wydick, Plain English for
Lawyers 4 (5th ed. 2005).

107Fred Rodell, Nine Men: A Political His-
tory of the Supreme Court from 1790 to
1955 279 (1955).

108William H. Rehnquist, “Foreword,” in Eu-
gene C. Gerhart, Robert H. Jackson: Coun-
try Lawyer, Supreme Court Justice, Amer-
ica’s Advocate iii (2d ed. 2003).



Justice Hugo Black and

His Law Clerks:

Match-Making and Match Point

TODD C. PEPPERS*

Introduction

What greater or better gift can we offer the republic than to teach and instruct our

youth?

Much has been written about Supreme
Court law clerks and the important role that
they play in assisting the Justices processing
the work of our nation’s highest court. While
law clerks in the late nineteenth century pri-
marily served the role of stenographers and
research assistants, today these young men
and women—all recent graduates of elite law
schools—work in close quarters with their in-
dividual Justices, reviewing petitions for writ
of certiorari, preparing the Justices for oral ar-
gument, and assisting in the drafting of legal
opinions. At the end of their clerkships, the
clerks find that they are faced with a dizzying
selection of job opportunities—from teaching

—Marcus Tullius Cicero!

at a top law school to becoming a highly com-
pensated associate at an elite law firm (with the
attendant six-figure signing bonus) or working
for the federal government.

As a scholar who has studied law clerks
for the last decade, I have found that often
the most fascinating aspect of the “clerkship
institution” lies not in the job duties or subse-
quent professional achievements of law clerks,
but in the personal bonds that form between a
small handful of the Justices and their clerks.
While the modern Supreme Court Justice is
authorized to hire four law clerks each Term
(the Chief Justice can employ five clerks), in
the early decades of the twentieth century, the
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Justices hired only one or two clerks per Term.
The combination of a smaller staff, fewer law-
clerk responsibilities, and home offices for the
Justices meant that the clerks had the rare
opportunity to interact with their Justices in
less formal and more relaxed settings. Thus,
we have wonderful stories of Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr. and his “legal secretaries,” who
balanced the Justice’s checkbook, accompa-
nied him on sightseeing jaunts, and reveled
in the Magnificent Yankee’s “tall talk” of the
Civil War. Or tales of Felix Frankfurter and
his clerks, with whom he fiercely debated the
finer points of art, music, and politics while
embracing them as surrogate sons. Even the
poor souls who clerked for James McReynolds
have left behind invaluable glimpses into the
personal life of their employer, such as the
recently published diary of former law clerk
John Knox and his captivating account of suf-
fering through a year with the grouchiest man
to have sat on the Supreme Court Bench.
After reviewing the law-clerk files in the
personal papers of Justice Hugo Black, as well
as talking with his children and his former
law clerks, it became quickly apparent that the
Black law clerks were also fortunate enough to
have enjoyed a warm and lasting relationship
with their Justice. While a few former Black
law clerks have written about their working
relationship between the Justice and his law
clerks, this article briefly discusses two main
elements of the clerkship experience that have
not been fully fleshed out: the Justice’s role as
an Alabama-born Pygmalion to a generation
of young clerks and the important role that
tennis played in the clerkship experience.

Mr. Justice Black and His Clerks

Like other Justices on the Supreme Court, Jus-
tice Black hired law clerks to assist with the
work of the Court. Each year, his law clerks
would assist in reviewing cert. petitions, do-
ing legal research, and editing opinion drafts.
These job duties, however, were only one di-

mension of the Black clerkship. As the Justice
himself once remarked to a law-clerk appli-
cant, “I don’t pick my law clerks for what they
can do for me, [ pick my law clerks for what I
can do for them,””!

And what the Justice could “do for them”
extended beyond legal training. Hugo Black,
Jr. explains that his father took a personal in-
terest in all of his young clerks and “attempted
to change their lives.”? “[H]e was truly inter-
ested and concerned about the way they con-
ducted their private lives as well as the way
they performed in their professional lives,”
adds Justice Black’s daughter, Josephine Black
Pesaresi.’ Referring to her father as a “natural
born teacher,” Pesaresi explains that the Jus-
tice “always looked at the whole person and
felt that strength of character, including most
predominately kindness, integrity, and humil-
ity, must be part of every aspect of anyone’s
life.” For Justice Black, the worst transgression
a law clerk could commit was being “puffed
up” with self-importance.

The law clerks themselves were well
aware of the Justice’s interest in their profes-
sional skills and personal failings. “The Judge
was a delightful teacher and friend, and be-
came almost a second father,” writes former
law clerk J. Vernon Patrick (October Term
1955). “He quickly noted my deficiencies and
set about to improve me.”* Over the years, the
Justice gave his law clerks unsolicited advice
on their personal appearance and habits (such
as not turning off the electricity when they left
a room, talking on the telephone too long, or
the pretentious practice of using a first initial
in their name), their driving skills, their social
graces, and even their weight. In a letter to
former law clerk C. Samuel Daniels (the fa-
ther of mystery writer Patricia Cornwell), Jus-
tice Black praises Daniels for resuming recre-
ational tennis. “This is not only a good game
at which you are excellent, but from what
the grapevine has told me I am inclined to
think that you might stand the loss of a few
pounds. [ cannot imagine the trim, handsome
Sam Daniels remaining corpulent. . . .”>
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Hugo L. Black was photographed after playing tennis with former law clerk John P. Frank and Cavett Roberts

at the Racquet Club in Phoenix, Arizona, in 1957.

The advice, however, went beyond the su-
perficial. When interviewing future law clerk
Larry Hammond (October Term 1971), Justice
Black startled the young applicant by announc-
ing that he had decided to meet with Ham-
mond because he knew that the young man
stuttered. Black proceeded to show Hammond
several books on stuttering and hypothesized
it was a psychological condition. Hammond
later humorously recalled that he was literally
“tongue-tied” during the interview, since he
hadn’t dreamed that his stuttering would be a
topic of conversation.®

Justice Black also took a great interest
in the intellectual development of his clerks,
sharing his love of reading with them. Writes
former law clerk Daniel J. Meador (October
Term 1954):

“Have you read these books?”” This
question from Justice Black was
heard by many a new law clerk

shortly after coming on the job.
“These books” usually referred to
some of his volumes of Tacitus,
Thucydides, Plutarch, or Livy, or to
The Greek Way [by Edith Hamilton],
or to some other historical work he
might happen to be reading at the mo-
ment. On getting a negative response,
as he did all too often, Black would
say something like: “Well, they’re
your first assignment. What they have
to say about human nature and history
is more relevant than anything I can
think of to the issues now before the
Court.”’

According to Meador, Justice Black be-
lieved that the lessons to be gleaned from
these authors served two purposes: not only
were the writings relevant in understanding the
complex issues facing the Supreme Court, but
they would make his clerks better members of
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Justice Black, daughter Josephine “Jo-Jo" Black, and law clerks at a gathering at the Justice’s home.

society. “He would rather have had his clerk
spend his reading time on literature of that
sort than on a book on federal jurisdiction. He
seemed to think that his clerks had had enough
technical indoctrination in law school.”® Echo-
ing Meador, former law clerk Guido Calabresi
(October Term 1958) recalls the Justice telling
his clerks that “‘you cannot be a lawyer if you
haven’t read Tacitus.””

Even illness could not stop the Justice
from assigning books to his law clerks to
read. During the year that Melford O. “Buddy”
Cleveland clerked for Justice Black, the Justice
was suffering from an extraordinarily painful
bout of shingles. Despite illness, the education
of his law clerks continued. “I remember one
night in particular when your foot was in such
pain that you had to hold it high off the floor,”
writes Cleveland. “[Y]et you kept searching
for a book for me to read, not for your work
but for my education.”'?

Asaside note, it should be pointed out that
the Justice’s reading assignments were not lim-

ited to his law clerks. Josephine Black Pesaresi
recalls that the family milkman had shared his
tales of domestic disharmony with the Justice,
prompting her father to give him a copy of
The Greek Way. And when the Justice was
hospitalized at the Bethesda Naval Hospital
for prostate problems, Pesaresi was amused
to discover that her father—who was reading
the collected works of Bertrand Russell—had
assigned his doctors and nurses reading from
the British philosopher and was threatening to
give reading quizzes to the medical staff.

Occasionally, Justice Black used the law
clerks themselves to make what the Justice
deemed necessary changes in their personal
habits. After selecting George C. Freeman, Jr.
(October Term 1956) to be his clerk, Justice
Black told him that he had picked Freeman
and his co-clerk (Robert A. Girard) with a dual
motive in mind:

He told me later on in the year,
“You know, I picked you and Bob ... .
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because you are opposites and I
thought that the two of you had some-
thing to teach each other. Bob’s a
very intense, hard-driving, ambitious
fellow who married young and has
stayed in the books. He’s the kind of
fellow who just works all the time.
Your problem is you’ve never worked
hard in your life. And I figured if 1
put the two of you together, he’d speed
youup and you'd slow him down. And
that would be good for both of you.'!

Freeman responded: “Well, I said ‘Judge,
it’s like putting the hare and the tortoise in yoke
together. But in this case the hare didn’t go to
sleep. And my little legs are mighty worn.’” It
might have been this fatigue that once caused
Freeman to take an ill-advised nap on a couch
in the Justice’s Chambers. “I will never for-
get waking up from an after-lunch nap on the
sofa in the clerks’ office just in time to see
the Judge tiptoeing in to close the connecting
door to his chambers.” Rather that admonish-
ing the mortified Freeman, the Justice quietly
said “‘Go right ahead, George. The only rea-
son [ am closing the door is that the Chief and
I can’t hear each other over your snoring.””!?

Justice Black’s Pygmalion-like efforts ex-
tended to the romantic lives of his clerks. Jus-
tice Black once explained to a former law
clerk that he could not comprehend why men
and women permitted so much time to pass
between engagement and marriage. “Many
things can happen during that period of time,
but the main thing that can happen ... is that
you and the young lady will lose the plea-
sure of each other’s association during that
time.”!? Accordingly, Justice Black pushed his
law clerks to get married. Former Black law
clerk Marx Leva (October Term 1940) writes
that Justice Black was “the man who made me
get married—which is a function usually re-
served, [ believe, for shot-gun carrying ‘father-
in-laws.””!* According to Leva, shortly after
his clerkship ended “it came to the Judge’s at-
tention that I had (in a rash moment, no doubt)

expressed the intention of getting married af-
ter the war, when I would (so I hoped) be back
from sea duty.” Leva soon received “an irate
longhand letter from the Judge, advising me
that under no circumstances would such con-
duct be tolerated by him.” Concludes Leva:
“Being a compliant fellow (and being under
some pressure to the same effect from Shirley),
1 was married on October 31, 1942, under the
watchful eye of the Judge.”!®

Yet the Justice had not finished giving
Leva advice on love and marriage. “A short
time after my marriage, while my LST was
still based in Norfolk, I received a second irate
longhand letter from the Judge,” writes Leva.

[T]he Judge had heard . .. that it was
my then intention not to have any
children until after my return from
sea duty. According to the Judge’s
letter, this plan of action (or, per-
haps, inaction) was even worse, if
possible, than my previous plan of
not getting married until after my
return from sea duty. In his letter,
the Judge waxed eloquently on the
prospect of my early demise as a re-
sult of German submarine warfare
or otherwise, and expressed grave
doubts, also on my chances of hav-
ing children, at my advanced age,
after the war. All in all, he felt
that the facts of the situation—as in
any Hugo Black decision—permitted
only one outcome—namely, children
before sea duty, rather than after.

This time, however, Justice Black’s per-
suasive powers failed to persuade his former
clerk and his bride. Concludes Leva: “To sum
up ... my one victory over the Judge—other
than my numerous victories on the tennis
course, of course—consisted in the post-war
arrival of Leo Marx Leva (1946) and Lloyd
Rose Leva (1947).716

Leva was not the only clerk for which
the Justice played cupid, as former law clerks
Drayton Nabers, Jr. (October Term 1965) and
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Freeman can attest. Regarding Nabers, Jus-
tice Black served as a self-appointed godfa-
ther to Fairfax Virginia Smothers, the daugh-
ter of former United States Senator William
Howell Smothers of New Jersey. Both Black
and Smothers served together in the United
States Senate, and the Justice’s first wife,
Josephine Black, was Fairfax Smother’s god-
mother. Nabers started his clerkship on July
1, 1965, and by August 9 he found himself
on a date with Faixfax Smothers—courtesy
of Hugo Black. Nabers met with the Justice
shortly before the date, and he recalls the Jus-
tice giving him the following advice. “Let me
tell you something. Fairfax is a lovely lady.
And young women come to Washington to
find husbands. She has been here for over
two years now—-if she wants you, she is going
to get you.” Adds Nabers: “[A]s predicted by
the Judge, we were married in December of
1965.”17

The Justice also worked his match-
making magic with Freeman, who writes that
“the Judge picked out my wife for me before
he or I ever knew she existed.”'®

When I left the Judge to go to Rich-
mond he suggested that I ought to
find there an attractive cousin of Gra-
ham’s [wife of Hugo Black, Jr.] for a
wife. The first cousin I brought back
to Washington for the Judge’ in-
spection was pronounced deficient in
only one respect—she had not gone
to Bryn Mawr like Graham. Subse-
quently that cousin decided on an-
other young man and to ease my
rejection introduced me to another
cousin! Fortunately Cousin Anne had
gone to Bryn Mawr. That settled it.

Like many Justices in the 1950s and
1960s, Justice Black also came to the rescue
of law clerks whose clerkships were in jeop-
ardy because of their draft status. After having
his request for an occupational deferment for
law clerk Stephen J. Schulhofer (October Term
1967) denied by two local draft boards, Justice

Black wrote a lengthy letter to the Presidential
Appeal Board of the Selective Service System
that laid out in great detail the “vital assis-
tance” provided to him by law clerks such as
Schulhofer. In the letter, the Justice sharply
concludes: “I cannot believe it is more impor-
tant to the Government to have Mr. Schulhofer
in the Army than it is for me to continue in
his work with me.”!® Schulhofer received his
deferment.

In return for the life lessons imparted by
the Justice, the law clerks gave the Justice
their undivided loyalty. They defended Justice
Black’s reputation from the slings and arrows
of biographers and critics, and, in the case
of former law clerk Neal P. Rutledge (Octo-
ber Term 1951), literally almost took a bul-
let for the Justice. Rutledge has humorously
noted that he “may be the only person who
was shot at in the Supreme Court.” One night
Rutledge found himself working late in Justice
Black’s Chambers at the Supreme Court. Dur-
ing his late-night session, Rutledge discovered
that he needed some files from the secretary’s
office. Because of the lateness of the hour
and the fact that Justice Black was at home,
Rutledge decided to save time by cutting
through the Justice’s personal office. Enter-
ing the office, he flipped on a light. As he
crossed the room, a rifle shot came crashing
through the Justice’s window. Rutledge’s Ma-
rine training kicked in, and he fell to the floor
to avoid the unfriendly fire before crawling to
a telephone. “Of course, I got on the telephone
immediately because it looked like it was an
attempt to assassinate the Justice, and I called
the Justice at home to warn him,” recalls Rut-
ledge. “This was when his first wife, Josephine
Black, was in her final stage of illness. The
Justice was not worried about himself, but was
worried that the news would disturb his wife.
So we were all sworn to secrecy.” In hindsight,
Rutledge does not believe it was an assassina-
tion attempt. “I really think—in light ofthe fact
that no other attempt was made on his life—
that someone just saw the light come on and
started to shoot away.” Nevertheless, Rutledge
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has the dubious honor of being the only Black
law clerk to come under hostile fire during his
clerkship.?

On the rare occasions when the Justice
was low, it was the law clerks who came to
his rescue. This was never more evident than
in the months and years following the death
of his wife, when his daughter proposed that
the clerks live with her father. “My father
was lonely, depressed and grieving after my
mother’s death,” recalls Pesaresi. “And he was
in terrible pain from shingles. I knew my fa-
ther enough to know that he was the happi-
est when he was teaching other people. By
having the clerks living with him, he could
talk about his books and his philosophy.”?'
Clerks who lived with the Justice included C.
Sam Daniels (October Term 1951), Cleveland
(October Term 1952), and Charles A. Reich
and David J. Vann (October Term 1953). For-
mer law clerk Reich provides a wonderful de-
scription of what it was like to live and work
with Justice Black.

David and I occupied our own quar-
ters on the ground floor of Justice
Black’s beautiful old home at 619
South Lee Street in Alexandria, Vir-
ginia. Our windows looked out on
a grape arbor and tennis court. Our
day began when the Judge, in his
bathrobe, knocked on our door to tell
us that breakfast, which he prepared,
was almost ready. At breakfast, in the
kitchen, he liked to read aloud from
the Washington Post, with many hu-
morous asides. He especially enjoyed
the Herblock cartoons. We each had
a car, and we rotated cars and drivers
for the daily trip to Washington and
to the Court. Together we arrived at
the Court at 10:00 a.m. Usually we
had lunch together in the Court’s pub-
lic cafeteria. Between 12:00 p.m. and
12:10 p.m. the line was open to Court
employees only, and the Judge liked
to time our trip downstairs so that we

just made the tail end of the employ-
ees’ line. At precisely 3:50 p.m., just
ahead of the afternoon rush hour, we
departed for Alexandria. Dinner was
served at about 6:00 p.m. by Lizzie
Mae Campbell, the Judge’s longtime
cook and housekeeper. Then the three
of us would climb the stairs to the
Judge’s second floor study for a ses-
sion that would last until bedtime. For
me, this was the most remarkable and
inspiring part of our day together.??

While, by all accounts, the living arrange-
ments were harmonious, former clerk Cleve-
land learned the importance of keeping track
of his house key:

One night I tried to sneak into his
house through a window because 1
had left my key inside. My friend, Jig-
gar [sic], the dog, attacked me like a
lion, and the Judge boomed out from
his bedroom window with the voice
of ten men, “Who is trying to break
into my house?”

The clerks themselves realized the toll that
Josephine Black’s death had taken on the Jus-
tice. “I do not know whether I have ever suf-
ficiently expressed to you my admiration for
the great courage which you showed during
the term I worked for you,” writes Cleveland.
“You never wavered through illness and nu-
merous defeats.”?*

It is evident that Justice Black’s attempts
to teach and educate his law clerks was sparked
by the open affection that he felt for “his
boys,”?* and evidence of this affection is found
in Justice Black’s personal papers. Justice
Black once observed that “my clerks stand al-
most in the relationship of my family to me,”?’
and a wonderful example is contained in a let-
ter written by Justice Black to Mrs. George
Brussel, Jr., the mother of law clerk Reich.
The Justice writes:

Each of my clerks has a secure place
in his affections. I think my affection
for your Charles began the first time
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Justice and Mrs. Black were photographed in his office during his 80th birthday party celebration. From left
to right: former law clerk Margaret Corcoran; former law clerk Frank Wozencraft; Wozencraft's son, Tommy;
former Holmes law clerk Tommy “the Cork" Corcoran; former New Dealer and Washington lawyer Benjamin V.
Cohen; Mrs Elizabeth Black; former law clerk John P. Frank; Frances Lamb, Justice Black’s secretary; former
law clerk Nicholas Johnson.

he came to see me, when he smiled. many things than in any other com-

There is something peculiarly warm
and appealing in his smile. And he
has the kind of integrity and human-
ity about him that [ like ... My pre-
diction is that many people will live
happier and better lives because of
Charlie.?®

Justice Black’s law clerks were equally
open in their affection for their mentor. “Your
influence, as much as that of any man, has
made me whatever it is I am,” writes former
law clerk Nicholas Johnson.?” In a letter to

parable period of my life. Your devo-
tion to mankind and to a legal system
which will serve mankind has been
a constant inspiration in the nineteen
years since [ was in your office. In
making major decisions I have fre-
quently found great help by asking
the question: “What would the Judge
think 1 should do?” I know that the
other men who were lucky enough to
be associated with you feel the same
way as I do.”®

And in discussing their affection for the
Justice, more than one former clerk lamented
the loss of the rare gift of their clerkship.
During the year that I was privileged “Though it [private practice] is interesting, that
to work with you I learned more about rewarding feeling of ‘laboring in the cause of

Justice Black, former law clerk Charles F. Luce
(October Term 1943) writes:
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righteousness’ is somehow missing,” writes
Freeman. “I miss it; even though I realize that
I could not continue to dwell forever on Olym-
pus.”?

As more tangible signs of their devotion,
former clerks showered their Justice with gifts
on birthdays and holidays. Through the years,
the postman delivered a steady stream of hams,
avocados, pears, oranges, Wisconsin cheese,
peanuts, smoked fish, jam, English walnuts,
chestnuts, grapefruit, sorghum, and pickles to
the Justice’s residence. Former law clerk Sid-
ney M. Davis (October Term 1944) set the
standard for gift-giving, and over a twenty-five
year period, he presented Justice Black with
expensive ties on his birthday and on Christ-
mas. “I can’t cease to admire your taste in the
selection of ties,” admitted Black in a letter to
Davis. “I never buy ties that expensive myself
and so that may be responsible for the fact that
the ones I buy are not equal to yours.”?

Justice Black, His Law Clerks, and
Tennis

If improving the lives of his law clerks was
one constant element of Justice Black’s clerk-
ship practices, the second was sharing his love
of tennis with his clerks. “The most important
things in my father’s life were Alabama, the
Constitution, his books, and the tennis court—
and not necessarily in that order,” explains
Josephine Black Pesaresi. “A choice between
the tennis court and the Supreme Court was a
hard choice to make for Daddy.” She adds that
her father used to say that he could retire from
the Supreme Court as long as he had tennis.
Justice Black did not start playing ten-
nis until he was a middle-aged man. Biogra-
pher Roger Newman writes that “[t]he Senate
doctor had told him that no man in his for-
ties should play singles, he liked to say, so he
waited until he was fifty.”*! Tennis satisfied
the Justice’s need both for exercise and for
competition. “My father was ahead of his time
in understanding the importance of exercise.

He did floor exercises every day of his life,”
explains Pesaresi. “Things like walking and
golf bored him, but he loved tennis because it
involved competition.” Hugo Black, Jr. recalls
that the Black children nicknamed their father
“the Great Competitor,” noting that the Jus-
tice “never liked to lose at anything.” While
Justice Black loved tennis, and practiced end-
lessly, his children offer different assessments
of his skills. While Pesaresi describes her fa-
ther as a “fair, very consistent” and “accu-
rate” player, Hugo Black, Jr. describes him as
“mediocre.” “He just hit the ball over the net
and figured that most people couldn’t hit it
back; he didn’t hit the ball to a spot, he hit it
straight.”

Regardless of his skill, his devotion to the
game was unquestioned; when the Justice suf-
fered an injury to his right elbow, he taught
himself to play tennis left-handed. “Maybe 1
shall be able to play tennis with your ‘left-
handed’ son when he gets a little older,” wrote
Justice Black to former law clerk (and frequent
tennis partner) C. Samuel Daniels. “Due to a
strained right wrist I have been playing with
my left hand for the last month.”*?

The key to Justice Black’s game was en-
durance, and, in his sixties and seventies, he
played tennis four to six hours a day. “He
played tennis every day in the summer and he
could outlast anybody,” recalls Pesaresi. Hugo
Black, Jr. echoes this sentiment. “Although he
had played some real experts, he would never
accept defeat after losing a match but would
always insist on playing again until the other
guy either quit from sheer exhaustion or was
beaten.”*?

The law clerks were aware of the Judge’s
strategy of outlasting his opponents. “The
Judge never succeeded in defeating his first
law clerk on the tennis court in any set,” brags
Jerome “Buddy” Cooper (October Terms
1937-1939). “Oh, to be sure, an occasional
game was dropped to him, and at the end of ev-
ery losing set, while the clerk gasped, the Judge
always inquired ‘“Why don’t we play just one
more set? [ believe I could beat you.””** Adds
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former law clerk George M. Treister (October
Term 1950), himself an excellent tennis player
and a past captain of the UCLA tennis team:

The Judge is the only man I’ve ever
known who made me feel a coward
when I wanted to quit playing ten-
nis after four or five sets. It mat-
tered not that my hand was blistered
through the heavy tape; in such cases
he never permitted a graceful way
out. He held that snow and dark-
ness were the only valid excuses. And
these he surely would have enjoyed if
he could have established jurisdiction
over the weather and the rotation of
the earth.*®

With these marathon tennis sessions, the
law clerks learned the important lesson that “a
man needs a strong mind and a strong body.”
When it came to competing with his children,
however, Justice Black had his limits. Once
his children were able to defeat their father on
the tennis court, they never again faced him in
singles competition.

Occasionally, Justice Black would show
a flash of anger over his own tennis game.
“He was then, as now, an even-tempered man,
but I learned in time to recognize the days
when he had had a bad day on the court—
the tennis court,” writes former clerk Sidney
Davis. “[S]uch occasions came to be known
by me as ‘Tennis the Menace’ days.”*’

The Justice’s tenacity and competiveness
meant that he fought for every point. Hugo
Black, Jr. recalls a match between his father
and Treister, who was an outstanding tennis
player in his own right. Having grown tired
of the Justice’s competitiveness, Treister hit
a slice shot in such a manner that the only
way it could be returned was for the Justice to
run into the garden wall (the assumption being
that Justice Black would let the shot go). The
Justice chased the ball into the wall. Treister
hit the shot again. Black again pursued it. An
astonished Treister watched as Justice Black
crashed into the wall again and again, forcing

the young man to abandon the strategy before
the Justice gravely injured himself.3®

On the tennis court, even Justice Black’s
famous sense of courtliness toward women
was eclipsed by his competitive nature. Former
clerk John W. Vardaman, Jr. (October Term
1965) remembers playing mixed doubles with
the Justice against Elizabeth Black (the Jus-
tice’s second wife) and fellow law clerk Dray-
ton Nabers, Jr. Concerned about the skill of
his younger opponent, and the lack of skill ev-
idenced by Vardaman, the Justice gave his law
clerk the following advice: “[WThen the ball
comes to you, hit it to Elizabeth.”>°

Justice Black built his clay tennis court
in the backyard of his Alexandria townhouse.
The Justice selected a clay court because it
was “the only acceptable style of court, in his
view.”* The court shared the large backyard
with rose and vegetable gardens, a grape arbor,
and a small fish pond, and a table and chairs
were placed in the shade of cherry, black wal-
nut, and pecan trees for post-tennis conversa-
tion and relaxation. For at least one law clerk,
the most memorable part of the tennis matches
was the fellowship that followed the marathon
sessions. “It wasn’t the tennis per se [which
enriched the clerkship experience],” explains
Vardaman. “It was the opportunity to go out to
the house, play tennis, and then socialize with
the Judge and Elizabeth. It turned the rela-
tionship from professional to personal.” Var-
daman remembers that tennis would be fol-
lowed by wide-ranging conversations between
the Justice and his clerks on such topics as
Vietnam, politics, constitutional history, the
Court, and famous personalities that the Judge
had known. “He provided us with a fascinating
view of history ... [IJt made for such a rich
experience to sit with the Judge and have so
much fun.”#!

The Justice and his law clerks maintained
the tennis court, which Nabers nicknamed “the
hottest court in the land.” “Weather permitting,
and sometimes when it didn’t, the Judge would
roll and line the tennis court,” recalls Treister.
“His displays of energy were overwhelming. I
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Hugo Black, Jr., Josephine Black Pesaresi, and the surviving Black law clerks at a 2008 gathering at the

Supreme Court.

gained the impression that I was of little real
help in this technical task.” Not surprisingly,
the Justice would not bow to Mother Nature.
“On occasion there was not much incentive
[in rolling and lining the court] since it obvi-
ously was going to rain before the court could
be readied, yet he insisted on the gamble. On
these days he seemed to take rain as a personal
insult.”*?

According to former law clerk Frank M.
Wozencraft, Justice Black created a second,
temporary tennis court during October Term
1949. Wozencraft writes that the tennis court
was located in “the attic” of the Supreme
Court, and that the Justice and his clerk played
with tennis balls that Supreme Court Marshall
Thomas E. Waggaman had “dyed orange in
a fruitless effort to improve the visibility.”*
Thus, at least for one Term of court, Hugo
Black presided over the highest court in the
land.

Justice Black politely suffered through
matches with those clerks whose tennis skills

were suspect, although he did take precautions
to minimize the loss of new tennis balls. Early
into his clerkship, Vardaman was invited to
play tennis with Justice Black. Vardaman
had never played tennis, and he accepted
the Justice’s invitation with “considerable
apprehension.” Prior to the match, Vardaman
decided to warm up by hitting some practice
balls—and immediately missed the first ball
lobbed to him. “The Judge did not miss the
significance of this inauspicious beginning
for he immediately announced that we would
play with old balls that day lest one of my
errant shots send a new ball over the fence
into the neighboring yard.”**

The frugal Justice Black was not deterred
when a wild tennis shot resulted in a lost ball.
Nabers writes of playing a doubles match with
outgoing law clerk James L. North (October
Term 1964) and the Blacks. During the prac-
tice session prior to the game, a tennis ball dis-
appeared into the thick foliage that grew along
a brick wall adjacent to the court. “Because the
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ball was of an older vintage,” explains Nabers,
“it was, without much ado, replaced by another
ball from the Judge’s basket.” After a three-
hour match, the exhausted law clerks and Mrs.
Black sat down to rest in the shade—only to
notice that Justice Black had disappeared.

Shortly thereafter Jim and I pushed
ourselves from our chairs and began
looking for the mysteriously absent
Judge to see if we could be of any
help. We found him in [an] Atlas-like
posture with a ten foot aluminum lad-
der hoisted on his back. Since [ smelt
no fires, saw no treed cat, and knew
that his peaches were not yet ripe,
I was rather baffled. “I'd better get
that ball down out of the vines before
it slips my mind,” he explained. At
once | understood more clearly the
work that would be expected of me
this year.*’

Perhaps aware of the Justice’s thriftiness,
former clerks used the holidays to make gifts
of tennis balls to the Justice. In a letter to for-
mer law clerk Treister, Justice Black thanks
him for the box of tennis balls—writing “you
know where my heart is.” The Justice muses in
the letter that he does not know if he has ever
played with “nylon and Dacron balls,” but as-
sures his former clerk that “I know I shall enjoy
these.”*

Even when faced with the most dismal
of tennis partners, Justice Black remained un-
daunted. When Freeman confessed to the Jus-
tice that he did not know how to play ten-
nis, the Justice accused him of being “modest”
and demanded to see the evidence for himself.
“It soon became clear that I was a disaster,”
recalls Freeman. “The following Friday, the
Judge came into my office and said, ‘George,
I have made an appointment for you with the
tennis pro at the Army Navy Country Club
tomorrow at ten o’clock. Listen carefully and
follow his instructions. This will take a number
of Saturdays for you to come up to speed.’”*’
The Judge’s prediction proved to be overly op-

timistic, as Freeman struggled to master the
basics. “Thereafter I slowly started getting a
few backhands, but my serves remained al-
most unattainable,” writes Freeman. “Fortu-
nately, in the Fall our work on cases began to
pick up and I came to look forward to having
to work in the office on Saturdays as a ‘God
Send.””

A few clerks, however, were judged to
be beyond the help of a good tennis pro (for-
mer law clerk Guido Calabresi (October Term
1968), for one, recalls Justice Black’s “total
distain—expressed as politely as possible—of
playing tennis with so puny a player as I"* )
and instead satisfied the Judge’s competitive
nature by serving as a fourth for bridge. “We
would often play after the Friday conference,
and the Judge was often tired because he was
losing 5 to 4 on civil liberty cases,” recounts
Calabresi. “A good clerk would have loved to
help him win [to cheer him up], but he was
so competitive that he would not be happy if
he knew that you were helping him win.” So
Calabresi came up with an ingenious solution
that involved former law clerk Reich (October
Term 1953).

During my clerkship, we routinely
played with Charlie Reich and an-
other individual. What we decided to
do—and I don’t know if Charlie real-
ized this—is to arrange so that Char-
lie would never be the Judge’s partner.
We told the Judge that we made this
arrangement because Charlie loved
the Judge too much, and was too emo-
tional, to be the Justice’s partner, but
it was really because Charlie—who is
brilliant—is too quixotic for bridge.
Thus, by putting Charlie on the other
team we made sure that the Judge
would always win.*

If Justice Black became wise to his law
clerks’ affectionate duplicity, he never men-
tioned it to them.
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Conclusion

Today it is common to refer to the Justices’
Chambers as “nine little law firms.” This
description is particularly apt when it comes
to the law clerks, whose role has evolved into
that of a law-firm associate who is called upon
to master complex areas of the law, counsel the
senior partner/Justice as to the best method of
resolving tricky legal issues, and draft complex
legal documents—namely, judicial opinions.>
While the modern Justices appear to have cor-
dial relationships with their law clerks and to
socialize with them outside of the Court, it
is evident that the clerkship models of Oliver
Wendell Holmes, Jr., Felix Frankfurter, and
Hugo Black are relics of the past. Perhaps
this is why the former Black law clerks speak
so glowingly of their clerkship experiences—
because they were the beneficiaries of a rare
and fleeting opportunity to become the stu-
dents and tennis partners of one of the most
remarkable individuals to sit on the Supreme
Court of the United States. As a testament to
their lasting devotion, the remaining Black law
clerks still hold regular reunions where they
reminisce about their days with “the Judge”
and raise a glass in his honor.
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The Supreme Court and Juvenile

Justice

JUDITH S. KAYE*

For so many things I thank the Historical Society profoundly, but place right at the top
of my list the delightful opportunity your invitation has given me to read the prior Annual
Lectures—interesting, exciting, thoroughly intimidating—touching on the Court’s history, its
cases, its people, even its wives (the subject of Justice Ginsburg’s 1999 lecture). Wholly apart
from the Society’s many initiatives to preserve the Court’s history and increase public awareness
of its contributions to our nation, the now nearly three dozen Annual Lectures alone offer an

amazing insight into this great institution.

Justice Samuel Alito opened his 2008
lecture by explaining that he chose his
subject—the origin of the baseball antitrust
exemption—on a dark, cold December day,
when thoughts of spring brought to mind
thoughts of baseball. Hence he treated us to
a session with our Great American Pastime,
centered on the Court’s 1922 decision, Fed-
eral Baseball Club of Baltimore v. National
League of Professional Baseball Clubs.!

I too made my choice of subject on a dark,
cold December day, contemplating this mag-
nificent spring afternoon, when my favorite
sport—ice hockey—would soon be packing
its bags for the season. (And wouldn’t you
know, the New York Rangers were out of it
again!) My thoughts thus turned to other are-
nas and, not surprisingly, settled on the subject

of children, a subject that dominated my many
sleepless nights as Chief Judge of the State of
New York, where—Ilike state courts through-
out the country—we have a staggeringly high
docket of Family Court cases, touching ev-
ery aspect of children’s lives. Just now in
New York (the subject of several scathing re-
ports on our juvenile detention facilities) and
in Pennsylvania (the site of a juvenile judge
corruption scandal)—indeed, throughout the
nation—attention is riveted on juveniles, chil-
dren accused of what for adults might be crimi-
nal conduct. How do we balance today’s vexing
crime and incarceration statistics with mod-
ern developmental science regarding troubled
young people? After considerable reflection,
my initial plan to address children generally
thus narrowed a bit to juveniles, due process,
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and the Supreme Court’s watershed decision
of May 15, 1967, In re Gault.?

Most Americans know what “Miranda”
stands for, even if they’re not sure about the
origin of custodial warnings. Every law stu-
dent recognizes Dollree Mapp, John Terry, and
Clarence Earl Gideon as important figures in
the Supreme Court’s criminal procedure cases
of the 1960s. Outside the juvenile-justice com-
munity, however, how many Americans know
the name Gerald Gault? Few, I suspect, are
aware that the appeal on young Gerald’s be-
half struck at the heart of the assumed benev-
olence of our juvenile courts, agencies, and
institutions, and in so doing shook the roots of
the juvenile-justice system nationwide. Who is
Gerald Gault, and what circumstances led him
to the Supreme Court of the United States?

. The Facts

On June 8, 1964, at about 10 a.m., Gerald
Francis Gault and a friend, Ronald Lewis,
were taken into custody by the Sheriff of Gila
County, Arizona. At the time of his arrest,
Gerald Gault was fifteen years old and serv-
ing six months’ probation for being in the
company of a boy who stole a wallet from a
woman’s purse. Three years later, in his opin-
ion for a divided Court, Justice Abe Fortas
described the events that followed. In reciting
the facts and holding, I barely resist the temp-
tation to read his words verbatim—the story
as told is fascinating.

The June 8" arrest resulted from a tele-
phone complaint by a neighbor of the boys,
Mrs. Cook, following her receipt of a lewd or
indecent phone call. In Justice Fortas’s words,
“the remarks or questions put to [Mrs. Cook]
were of the irritatingly offensive, adolescent,
sex variety.”

When the sheriff picked up Gerald Gault
at home and took him to the local Children’s
Detention Home, his mother and father were
both at work. The sheriff left no notice that
their son had been arrested and took no other
steps to tell them. When his mother arrived

home at about six o’clock, Gerald was not
there. His older brother was sent to look for
him at the trailer home of the Lewis family,
and he learned that Gerald was in custody.
Gerald’s mother and brother went to the Deten-
tion Home, where the deputy probation officer,
Charles Flagg, who was also superintendent
of the Detention Home, told Mrs. Gault “why
Jerry was there,” and that a hearing would be
held in Juvenile Court at three o’clock the fol-
lowing day.

The next day, Officer Flagg filed a peti-
tion, supported by his affidavit, without serv-
ing the Gaults. Indeed, they did not see the peti-
tion until a habeas corpus hearing two months
later. The petition recited only that Gerald was
a delinquent minor under the age of eighteen
in need of the protection of the court, and it
sought a hearing and order regarding his care
and custody. There was no hint of what he
supposedly had done wrong.

Also on June 9, Gerald, his mother,
his older brother, and Probation Officers
Flagg and Henderson appeared before Juve-
nile Court Judge Robert McGhee in cham-
bers. Gerald’s father was not present, as he
was at work out of the city. Nor was Mrs.
Cook, the complainant, at the hearing. No one
was sworn, and no record of any sort was
made. Information about the June 9 hearing,
as well as a June 15 hearing, was drawn en-
tirely from the testimony of the Juvenile Court
Judge, Mr. and Mrs. Gault, and Officer Flagg
at the habeas corpus proceeding conducted two
months later.

It appears that, at the June 9 hear-
ing, Judge McGhee had questioned Gerald
about the telephone call, but there was dis-
agreement as to just what he had said that
day. His mother later testified that Ger-
ald said he only dialed Mrs. Cook’s num-
ber and handed the telephone to his friend,
Ronald; Officer Flagg testified that Gerald
had admitted making the lewd remarks, but
Judge McGhee himself recalled that Gerald
“admitted making one of these [lewd] state-
ments.” Whatever Gerald’s actual testimony
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on June 9, Judge McGhee ended the hearing
by saying that he would think about it.

Remarkably, Gerald was taken back to the
Detention Home, rather than being sent home
with his family, and was detained until June 11
or 12, when he was driven home. The record
does not disclose why he was kept in the De-
tention Home or why he was released. On the
day of his release, Mrs. Gault received a note
signed by Officer Flagg, saying “Mrs. Gault:
Judge McGhee has set Monday June 15, 1964
at 11:00 AM. as the date and time for fur-
ther Hearings on Gerald’s delinquency.” Twice
in his writing—once in the facts, once in the
analysis—Justice Fortas observed that the of-
ficer’s note was written on plain paper, not
official letterhead.

June 15 Hearing
On June 15, Gerald, his parents, Ronald
Lewis and his father, and Officers Flagg and
Henderson appeared before Judge McGhee.
Witnesses at the later habeas corpus proceed-
ing again differed in their recollections of what
Gerald’s testimony had been at the June 15
hearing. According to Judge McGhee, while
“there was some admission of some of the lewd
statements, he didn’t admit any of the more se-
rious lewd statements.” Again, Mrs. Cook did
not attend. Mrs. Gault’s request that Mrs. Cook
be present was denied. Imagine: throughout
this entire course of events, the only person
who actually spoke to Mrs. Cook was Officer
Flagg—just once, over the telephone.

Also at the June 15 hearing, the proba-
tion officer filed a “referral” report, again not
disclosed to Gerald or his parents. The report
listed the charge as “Lewd Phone Calls.” At
the conclusion of the hearing, Judge McGhee
committed fifteen-year-old Gerald as a juve-
nile delinquent to the State Industrial School
“for the period of his minority [that is, un-
til 21—nearly six years], unless sooner dis-
charged by due process of law.” Arizona law
did not permit an appeal in juvenile cases. A
petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed

with the Supreme Court of Arizona and re-
ferred to the Superior Court for hearing.

At the Superior Court hearing on the pe-
tition, Judge McGhee was vigorously cross-
examined as to the basis for his actions. He
testified that he had taken into account the
fact that Gerald was on probation. Asked un-
der what section of the Code he had found the
boy delinquent, Judge McGhee answered that
Gerald came within the Arizona delinquency
statute providing that a “delinquent child” in-
cludes one “who has violated a law of the state
or an ordinance or regulation of a political sub-
division thereof”—here specifically, a section
of the Arizona Criminal Code providing that
a person is guilty of a misdemeanor who “in
the presence or hearing of any woman or child
... uses vulgar, abusive or obscene language.”
Quite a crime! The prescribed penalty, for an
adult, was $5 to $50, or imprisonment for not
more than two months. For Gerald, a juvenile,
the prescribed penalty turned out to be roughly
Six years.

Judge McGhee stated that he acted as
well under a provision of Arizona’s delin-
quency statute defining a “delinquent child”
as one who is “habitually involved in immoral
matters.” As to the basis for his conclusion
that Gerald was habitually involved in im-
moral matters, Judge McGhee testified that,
two years earlier, Gerald had been the subject
of a “referral” for stealing a baseball glove
from another boy and lying to the Police De-
partment. He recalled there had been no hear-
ing, and no accusation relating to this incident,
due to lack of material foundation. The Judge
also testified that Gerald had admitted making
other nuisance phone calls in the past that were
“silly calls, or funny calls, or something like
that.” The Superior Court dismissed the writ of
habeas corpus, and the Arizona supreme court
affirmed.

Supreme Court Appeal
Appellants’ jurisdictional statement and brief
to the Supreme Court of the United States
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urged the Court to hold the Juvenile Code of
Arizona invalid because, contrary to the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment,
the Arizona statute allowed a juvenile to be
taken from the custody ofhis parents and com-
mitted to a state institution in which basic due-
process rights were denied—namely, the right
to notice of charges, to counsel, to confronta-
tion and cross-examination; the right against
self-incrimination; the right to a transcript of
the proceedings; and the right to appellate re-
View.

Arizona’s Answer
The State of Arizona answered that it would
be the first to agree that a juvenile is entitled
to due process of law in juvenile court, but ar-
gued that the essential question posed is “what
constitutes due process in such a proceeding.”
The state urged that one must be mindful of the
nature of the juvenile proceeding and its de-
vout attempt to avoid an adversarial approach
to juvenile problems. Arizona maintained that
in the spirit of the traditional juvenile court, its
Juvenile Code was framed precisely to protect
a child of tender years and provide the child
due process of law.

Forty-six years later, it is difficult to un-
derstand the legal mind-set that could sub-
ject a child and his parents to the state’
utterly unfettered discretion—benevolent or
not—resulting in Gerald’s case in a penalty
of nearly six years for commission of a minor
offense while on probation for an accessorial,
nonviolent act. Indeed, in affirming the Supe-
rior Court, the Arizona supreme court pointed
out that Arizona’s Juvenile Code would even
have allowed Judge McGhee to commit
Gerald until age twenty-one without any fur-
ther showing of delinquency during his six-
month probation period if he felt that served
Gerald’s welfare and the interests of the state.*

In preparing this lecture, I came to under-
stand that, for most of its history leading up to
Gault, the Supreme Court was not often asked
to consider the constitutional rights of children

themselves. Rather, children formed the back-
drop for the Court’s consideration of compet-
ing claims regarding their welfare brought by
opposing entities such as Congress, the states,
parents, and schools. There were, for exam-
ple, child labor law cases pitting the federal
government against the states, and challenges
to state authority requiring that schoolchil-
dren recite the Pledge of Allegiance, or pro-
hibiting teaching foreign languages in elemen-
tary school, or mandating public education for
children not meeting one of several explicit
exemptions,

Thus, through the mid-twentieth century,
when children appeared at all in Supreme
Court cases, more often than not they tended
to be the context for adjudication of the rights
of others, not their own. Until 1962, the Court
had not passed on the legality of code proce-
dures or police practices respecting juveniles.
Gault and its immediate predecessors put the
rights of juveniles center stage. Moreover, it
was a time in Supreme Court history of un-
precedented procedural reform of federal and
state criminal-justice systems. Debate raged
about incorporation of the Bill of Rights into
the Fourteenth Amendment, about the scope of
that amendment’s due-process protections, and
about the standard of review of due-process
challenges to state action. While there was
wide agreement that the words “due process of
law” applied to the adjudication of juveniles—
even the Arizona supreme court agreed that
Gerald Gault had a right to due process—what
did that encompass?

Answering the Question
In Gallegos v. Colorado,’ just five years before
Gault, in setting aside a youngster’s confes-
sion, Justice William Douglas answered that
the only guide to the meaning of due pro-
cess was the “totality of circumstances,” in-
cluding the youth of the petitioner, long de-
tention, failure to send for his parents, failure
immediately to bring him before a juvenile
court judge, and failure to see to it that he
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Gerald Gault, whose delinquency case rose to the Supreme Court in 1967 and became the basis for a
landmark decision, is shown here being trained in automotive work.

had the advice of a lawyer or friend.® Gallegos
was followed by Kent v. United States,” a Dis-
trict of Columbia juvenile proceeding in which
Justice Fortas speculated in his writing for
the five-Justice majority that juveniles faced
with incarceration yet unprotected by the con-
stitutional guarantees afforded adults might
“receive the worst of both worlds.”® A proce-
dural error with respect to waiver of jurisdic-
tion, however, required remand and prevented
the Court’s giving its full attention to the issue.

The stage thus was set for /n re Gault—
the Supreme Court’s first full-fledged foray
into juvenile justice, and for Justice Fortas in
particular. He not only had tilled the soil in
his Kent opinion but also as a lawyer some
years earlier had successfully represented both
Monte Durham in the D.C. Circuit’s overturn
of the McNaghten Rule (thus allowing for ev-
idence of the science regarding defendant’s

mental state) and Clarence Earl Gideon in the
Supreme Court’s monumental right-to-counsel
case.”

Il. The Court’s Decision

On May 15, 1967, the Court announced its
decision in favor of the Gaults. Justice For-
tas wrote for the Court—passionately and at
length—joined by Chief Justice Earl War-
ren and Justices Douglas, Tom Clark, and
William Brennan. Justices Hugo Black and
Byron White filed separate concurrences. Jus-
tice John Marshall Harlan concurred in part
and dissented in part. Justice Potter Stewart
was the sole dissenter; he would have dis-
missed the appeal.

[ was struck, reading Justice Stephen
Breyer’s 2009 Annual Lecture on Dred Scott,'’
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by his reference to the communicative power of
a single word in the Court’s extensive writings
in that case. The word Justice Breyer high-
lighted from Dred Scott was “calm,” as used
by Justice Benjamin Curtis in his dissent from
the now-infamous Taney writing concluding
that “a negro, whose ancestors were imported
into the country and sold as slaves” is not en-
titled to sue as a citizen in the courts of the
United States.!! As Justice Curtis wrote, “a
calm comparison” of the words of the Dec-
laration of Independence with the individual
acts and opinions of its authors would have
shown the error, the utter repugnancy, of the
majority’s conclusion. '2

For me, the analogy is to Justice Fortas’s
description of the Arizona proceedings as a
“kangaroo court”!3 —in essence, an out-and-
out mockery of justice, the ultimate condem-
nation of a judicial proceeding. Even more
poignantly, he wrote: “The condition of being a
boy does not justify a kangaroo court.” I think
of the high drama of those words, and I think
of Justice Stewart’s contrasting characteriza-
tion, in dissent, of Gault as an “obscure”!4
Arizona case that was better left to the state’s
benevolent discretion. Could there be a starker
contrast—one side believing that in this case
Gerald Gault had received all the process that
was due him, the other labeling the proceeding
a downright mockery of justice. That contrast,
for me, captures the essence of the tension, the
dilemma, that persists to this very day: pre-
‘cisely what is encompassed by “due process”
in the adjudication of juveniles? Where, and
how, and by whom, are the lines to be drawn?

Opening Thoughts
Justice Fortas began his opinion for the Court
with the observation that, from the inception
of specialized juvenile courts in 1899, juris-
dictions had insisted upon wide differences
in the procedural rights accorded adults and
juveniles, and he recounted at length the his-
tory underlying those differences. The early
reformers were appalled about the applica-

tion of adult procedures and penalties to chil-
dren, who could be given long prison sentences
and mixed in jails with hardened criminals.
They were convinced that society’s role was
not simply to ascertain whether the child was
guilty or innocent but rather how the child
could be treated and rehabilitated, that ju-
venile court procedures—from apprehension
through institutionalization—should be clini-
cal, not punitive. They sought to achieve these
ends, without “constitutional grief,” by in-
sisting that juvenile court proceedings were
not adversarial because the state proceeded
in parens patriae—in Justice Fortas’s view a
murky phrase, its historic credentials of dubi-
ous relevance, with no presence whatever in
the history of criminal jurisprudence.'’

Civil Proceedings
The reformers, moreover, had argued for the
right of the state, as parens patriae, to deny
a child procedural rights, asserting that, un-
like an adult, a child had a right “not to lib-
erty, but to custody.”'S Thus, when a child
was delinquent, the state could intervene—
not to deprive the child of any rights, because
the child had none, but to provide the “cus-
tody” to which the child was entitled. For this
reason, juvenile proceedings were considered
civil, not criminal, and not subject to require-
ments normally constraining a state seeking to
deprive a person of liberty.

Noting that the highest motives and most
enlightened impulses motivated this peculiar
system for juveniles—a system unknown to
our law in any comparable context—Justice
Fortas pronounced its constitutional and the-
oretical underpinnings debatable. However
benevolently motivated, unbridled discretion
was frequently a poor substitute for princi-
ple and procedure. Refusing to succumb to
either sentiment or folklore, Justice Fortas de-
clined to credit the claim that juveniles ben-
efited from special procedures applicable to
them that offset their denial of normal due
process. In his view, due-process standards,
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Pictured are the members of the Court who heard the Gault case. Justice Abe Fortas (standing at right) wrote
the majority opinion, which recognized the rights of juveniles but was careful not to extend to them all the
rights of adult defendants.

intelligently administered, would not compel
the states to abandon or displace the substan-
tive benefits of the juvenile process.

Justice Fortas next used statistics to dis-
pute the argument that the absence of con-
stitutional protections reduced crime, or that
the juvenile system, functioning free of con-
stitutional inhibitions as it had largely done,
was effective to reduce crime or rehabilitate
offenders. He saw no reason why, consistent
with due process, a state could not continue
to provide and improve the confidentiality of
records of police contacts and court action
relating to juveniles where appropriate. He
also cited recent studies suggesting that the
appearance and actuality of fairness, impar-
tiality, and orderliness—in short, the essen-
tials of due process—would prove the more
therapeutic practice for court-involved youth.
Indeed, one study had concluded that where
stern discipline followed procedural laxness,
the contrast could harm a child, who might
feel deceived or enticed. Without appropriate

due process, even the juvenile who had vio-
lated the law might feel unfairly treated and
therefore resist rehabilitation.

After reviewing the relevant statistics,
Justice Fortas turned to the reality underly-
ing Gerald Gault’s appeal. A boy is charged
with misconduct and committed to an institu-
tion where he may be restrained for years. “It is
of no constitutional consequence—and of lim-
ited practical meaning—that the institution . . .
is called an Industrial School” when it is in ac-
tuality “an institution of confinement in which
the child is incarcerated.”” The child’s world
becomes “‘a building with whitewashed walls,
regimented routine and institutional hours. . . ."
Instead of mother and father and sisters and
brothers and friends and classmates, his world
is peopled by guards, custodians, state em-
ployees and ‘delinquents’ confined with him
for anything from waywardness to rape and
homicide.”"®

Given this reality, Justice For-
tas continued, “it would be extraordinary if
our Constitution did not require the procedural
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regularity and the exercise of care implied in
the phrase ‘due process.” Under our Constitu-
tion,” he declared, in words that have resonated
through the decades, “the condition of being a
boy does not justify a kangaroo court.”!’

Justice Fortas further observed that where,
as here, the juvenile has a home and a family,
the judge should have made a careful inquiry
as to the possibility that the boy could be disci-
plined and dealt with by them, despite previous
transgressions. Instead, the judge here focused
on points that were little different from those
relevant to determining any violation of a penal
statute. Indeed, “the essential difference be-
tween Gerald’s case and a normal criminal case
[was] that safeguards available to adults were
discarded in Gerald’s case[, yet] the summary
procedure and long commitment was possible
because Gerald was 15 years of age instead of
over 18.7%20

Defined Rights
Despite the pitch of his writing, Justice Fortas
fashioned a holding that recognized for juve-
niles only some, notably not all, of the rights of
adult defendants. He concluded, first, that due
process of law required notice of the proceed-
ing equal to that deemed constitutionally ad-
equate for adults. Second, in proceedings that
might result in commitment to an institution
in which the juvenile’s freedom is curtailed,
the child and his parents must be notified of
the child’s right to counsel. Third, the constitu-
tional privilege against self-incrimination was
as applicable to juveniles as to adults. Fourth,
absent a valid confession, a court cannot de-
termine delinquency or order commitment to
a state institution in the absence of sworn tes-
timony subjected to the opportunity for cross-
examination in accordance with the law and
constitutional requirements.?! Although the
Court declined to hold that juveniles were en-
titled to a transcript of proceedings and to an
appeal, Justice Fortas noted that failure to pro-
vide an appeal, to record the proceedings, to
make findings, or to state the grounds for a

juvenile court’s conclusion could burden the
machinery for habeas corpus, saddle the re-
viewing court with the need for record recon-
struction, and impose upon the juvenile judge
the unseemly duty of testifying under cross-
examination concerning the hearings before
him.?? The message to the states is clear: Do
it anyway.

Allin all, Justice Fortas’s writing was what
the Pennsylvania supreme court later called
“a sweeping rationale and a carefully tailored
holding.”** Significantly, Justice Fortas did
not explicitly join the debate regarding the ex-
tent to which appellants’ due-process claims
were cognizable against the state of Arizona
by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment’s in-
corporation of the Bill of Rights, though his
opinion for the Court appears to adopt “selec-
tive incorporation.”

At the other extreme, Justice Stewart, in
dissenting, criticized the Court for using this
“obscure” Arizona case to impose criminal
trial restrictions upon thousands of juvenile
codes and juvenile courts throughout the na-
tion.?* Justice Stewart saw the decision as both
unsound as a matter of constitutional law and
unwise as a matter of judicial policy. The Ari-
zona courts had found that Gerald Gault’s par-
ents knew of their right to counsel and right
to subpoena, cross-examine, and confront wit-
nesses; that they knew the possible conse-
quences of a finding of delinquency; and that
Mrs. Gault knew the exact nature of the charge
against Gerald from the day he was taken to
the detention home.

Defined Danger
There was thus, in Justice Stewart’s view, no
need in this case for the Court to decide any
of those issues, and—even more important—a
distinct danger that the Court’s decision equat-
ing juveniles with adults would simply invite a
long step backward into the horrors of the nine-
teenth century. He gave one pointed example in
text—a twelve-year-old boy charged with mur-
der was hanged to death, after adult criminal
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court proceedings that were in the view of the
New Jersey courts “all very constitutional”—
and he footnoted a second example, where a
death sentence was upheld for a ten-year-old
convicted on his own confession of killing his
bedfellow.?

Plainly, like Justice Fortas, Justice Stewart
was passionate about the subject, but he would
have left well enough alone, in the capable
and caring hands of the state juvenile courts,
fearing that this was just a terribly wrong step
for the Supreme Court to take.

A powerful, portentous difference—but
hardly the end of the debate among the Gault
Justices. Would that there were only two sides
to every story! The writings of Justices Har-
lan and Black centered on the third side to the
Gault story and the fourth: proper interpreta-
tion of the Due Process Clause of the Four-
teenth Amendment as applied to the states.

In Justice Harlan’s view, concurring and
dissenting, the majority had both gone too
far and fallen short in assessing the proce-
dural requirements of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment, and perhaps worst of all, it had failed
to identify with any certainty the standards to
be applied.?® Justice Harlan suggested three
criteria to measure procedural due-process
requirements in juvenile court proceedings.
First, to assure fundamental fairness, no more
restrictions should be imposed than are imper-
ative; second, the restrictions imposed should
preserve, as far as possible, the essential ele-
ments of the state’s purpose; and finally, the
restrictions chosen should permit later orderly
selection of additional protections that might
ultimately prove necessary. In this way, the
Court could guarantee the fundamental fair-
ness of the proceeding, yet permit the states to
continue development of an effective response
to juvenile crime.?’

A Middle Ground
Measured by the standard of fundamental fair-
ness, Justice Harlan proposed a sort of mid-
dle ground, underscoring that there were com-

pelling reasons to defer imposition of addi-
tional requirements. The Court could avoid
imposing unnecessary restrictions and es-
cape dependence upon classifications that
could prove to be illusory. Moreover, he ob-
served that both juvenile crime and juvenile
courts were under earnest study throughout
the country—as continues to this day, I might
add—and he feared that by imposing rigid pro-
cedural requirements, the Court could inad-
vertently discourage state efforts to find better
solutions and thus hamper enlightened devel-
opment of the juvenile court systems. Provi-
sion of notice, counsel, and a record, in his
view, would permit orderly efforts to deter-
mine later whether more satisfactory classifi-
cations could be devised and, if so, whether the
Fourteenth Amendment required additional
procedural safeguards. In that Gerald and his
parents were not provided adequate notice,
they were not advised of their right to counsel,
and no record was maintained of the proceed-
ings, Justice Harlan concluded that Gerald had
been deprived of his liberty without due pro-
cess of law.

Justice Black’s View
Justice Black essentially agreed with Justice
Stewart’s dissent that the Court should not
have passed on the issues presented because
they were not squarely presented, but he also
felt obliged to weigh in on “due process.” He
joined in the majority view that juvenile courts
had failed their purpose. The Arizona law had
denied the Gaults and their son the right to
notice, right to counsel, right against self-
incrimination, and right to confront witnesses.
They were entitled to all of these rights, not
because fairness required them, but because
those rights were specifically granted them by
the Fifth and Sixth Amendments, made ap-
plicable to the states through the Fourteenth
Amendment.?

Justice Black’s words principally were di-
rected to what he viewed as Justice Harlan’s
misreading of the Due Process Clause to allow
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the Court “‘to determine what forms of proce-
dural protection are necessary to guarantee the
fundamental fairness of juvenile proceedings’
‘in a fashion consistent with the “traditions and
conscience of our people.””” He saw nothing
in its words or history to permit such inter-
pretation, and argued that “‘fair distillations
of relevant judicial history’” were no substi-
tute for the words and history of the clause
itself. Justice Black maintained that the phrase
“due process of law” had through the years
evolved as the successor in purpose and mean-
ing to the words “law of the land” in Magna
Carta, and that nothing done since the Magna
Carta intimated “that the Due Process Clause
gives courts power to fashion laws in order to
meet new conditions, or to fit the ‘decencies’
of changed conditions, or to keep their con-
sciences from being shocked by legislation,
state or federal.”?

Freedom in this nation, Justice Black
warned, would be far less secure the very mo-
ment that judges could determine which safe-
guards “‘should’ or ‘should not be imposed’
according to their notions of what constitu-
tional provisions are consistent with the ‘tradi-
tions and conscience of our people.”” Judges
with such power, even while professing “‘to
proceed with restraint,” will be above the Con-
stitution, with power to write it, not merely to
interpret it”—"“the only power constitutionally
committed to judges.”°

Having previously voiced his support for
“full incorporation” of the Bill of Rights
through the Fourteenth Amendment, Justice
Black noted that the Gault case concerned Bill
of Rights amendments; that the “procedure”
power Justice Harlan had claimed for the Court
related “solely to Bill of Rights safeguards”;
and that Justice Harlan had also claimed for the
Court “a supreme power to fashion new Bill
of Rights safeguards according to the Court’s
notions of what fits tradition and conscience.”
Because Justice Black did not believe that the
Constitution vested “such power in judges, ei-
ther in the Due Process Clause or anywhere
else,” his vote to invalidate the Arizona law

was not on the ground that it was “unfair,” but
rather on the ground that it violated the Fifth
and Sixth Amendments, imposed on the states
by the Fourteenth Amendment.3!

And there it is, five views of the law, each
expressed with intensity and authority—in ali,
eighty-one power-packed pages of the U.S. Re-
ports.

I close this discussion of the Gault writ-
ings with a personal recollection from my own
treasured years at the New York State Court
of Appeals. In instances where a case frac-
tured our court and generated several separate
writings, often I would ask myself: In finally,
absolutely and definitively resolving this case
before us, hasn’t the court now given good
solid support for every possible conclusion?
In Gault, 1 believe the answer clearly is yes.

lll. Gault’s Trail in the Supreme Court

No surprise, then, that the decision has had
an interesting life in the Supreme Court since
May 15, 1967. And I use the word “interesting”
advisedly, having been told by a friend that
“interesting” is most appropriate to describe
a bad blind date. In short, it’s a transparent
attempt to avoid a frank answer.

Though Gault is a landmark of juvenile
justice, it has in fact shown up in a variety
of Supreme Court cases—even in the 1969
affirmance of Timothy Leary’s conviction for
drug trafficking.>? Just a moment’s diversion
to touch on those cases before returning to the
appeals involving juveniles.

Plainly, throughout the ensuing decades
Gault has had a role in the Supreme Court’s
articulation of the contours of constitutional
procedural protections in criminal cases, un-
derscoring that due process and fair trial are
flexible concepts that require identifying and
accommodating the interests of individuals
and society.

Outside the world of procedural rights in
criminal cases, the Court has invoked Gault
in shaping rights relative to summary court-
martials, prison discipline, civil commitments
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of mental patients and the like—a category
roughly definable as “quasi-criminal” cases—
like the juvenile delinquency proceeding in
Gault itself, in some respects akin to criminal
cases, in others not. Here the Court has drawn
significant distinctions, depending on the
nature of the proceeding, exemplified in
1984, in Allen v. Illinois, by Justice William
Rehnquist’s narrowing of Gault’s majestic
declaration that “our Constitution guarantees
that no person shall be ‘compelled’ to be a
witness against himself when he is threatened
with deprivation of his liberty.”? At issue
in Allen was the Illinois Sexually Dangerous
Persons Act, which could result in indeter-
minate commitment to a maximum-security
psychiatric institution. In concluding that the
loss of liberty does not equate a proceeding
with a criminal prosecution for purposes of
the Sixth Amendment, the Court carved out
as determinative the state’s interest in treating
sexually dangerous persons under its parens
patriae as well as police powers, which of
course went the other way in Gault.

That brings to mind another majestic dec-
laration from Justice Fortas’s pen that has un-
dergone refinement by the Supreme Court:
“Neither the Fourteenth Amendment nor the
Bill of Rights is for adults alone.”>* From
among the several noncriminal Supreme Court
decisions citing Gault, I am drawn especiaily
to the abortion and birth-control cases citing
Fortas’s powerful words in attempting to define
the extent of state power to regulate the con-
duct of minors not constitutionally regulable
when committed by adults. As Justice Lewis F.
Powell observed in 1979 in Bellotti v. Baird *®
upholding a Massachusetts statute requiring
parental consent for underage abortions, those
words are only the beginning of the very dif-
ficult analysis that must be made, necessarily
recognizing the peculiar vulnerability of chil-
dren, their inability to make critical decisions
in an informed, mature manner, and the im-
portant parental role in child-rearing. Thus, al-
though children may be protected by the same
constitutional guarantees against governmen-

tal deprivations as are adults, the Court since
Gault has made clear that the state is entitled
to adjust its legal system to account for chil-
dren’s vulnerability and their needs for con-
cern, sympathy, and parental attention. A del-
icate balance indeed.

Scope of Due Process
And that perception returns us to the subject
of the day: precisely what is encompassed by
procedural “due process” in adjudicative pro-
ceedings involving juveniles, who may face
removal from home and years of commitment
to a state institution? What has been Gault’s
trail, first in later Supreme Court decisions
addressing that question, and then finally—
and briefly—in the world beyond the Supreme
Court?

Wouldn’t you know, the very next juve-
nile due-process case to arrive at the Supreme
Court—some have suggested an even more
significant case, in that it signaled how the
Court would actually apply Gault—came from
my own former court, the New York State
Court of Appeals: In re Winship,?® in 1970.
have to admit that, as a judge, it seemed to me
that once certiorari was granted, the judges of
the court under review should themselves have
the option to present the appeal to the Supreme
Court. (Just joking.) Take my word for it: no
one on Earth has researched more exhaustively
or feels more strongly for affirmance than the
majority writer, no one more strongly for rever-
sal than the dissenter. Talk about passionate—
they would do a phenomenal job!

Reasonable Doubt
In Winship, it was the state court dissenter,
Chief Judge Stanley Fuld, who ultimately pre-
vailed in the Supreme Court, extending in-
corporation into juvenile proceedings of addi-
tional federal procedural rights not explicitly
found in the Bill of Rights, the reasonable-
doubt standard—and by the way, in so doing,
making the reasonable-doubt standard part of
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the Due Process Clause guarantees for adults
as well. In Justice Brennan’s stirring words
for the majority, “We made clear [in Gault]
that civil labels and good intentions [to save
the child] do not themselves obviate the need
for criminal due process safeguards in juve-
nile courts, for ‘[a] proceeding where the is-
sue is whether the child will be found to be
‘delinquent’ and subjected to the loss of his
liberty for years is comparable in seriousness
to a felony prosecution.’”’

Justices Harlan and Black—one concur-
ring, one dissenting—continued their debate
regarding the proper scope of the Due Process
Clause. While reemphasizing that there was
no automatic confluence between criminal due
process and juvenile due process, Justice Har-
lan in this instance agreed with the majority
that the reasonable-doubt standard was an ex-
pression of fundamental procedural fairness,
merely requiring juvenile court judges to be
more confident in their belief that the youth
did the act charged.’® Justice Black, reject-
ing the reasonable-doubt standard, reiterated
his view that the explicit language of the Bill
of Rights, and not any individual judge’s no-
tions of “fairness,” should define due process
of law.*

And a new voice—Chief Justice Warren
Burger, joined by Justice Stewart—dissented
from what he saw as “the further strait-
jacketing of an already overly restricted” ju-
venile justice system. He lamented (as Jus-
tice Stewart had done in Gault) that each step
the Supreme Court took toward adding rights
was turning the clock back to the nineteenth
century, pre—juvenile court era. In his words,
“What the juvenile court system needs is not
more but less of the trappings of legal proce-
dure and judicial formalism; the juvenile court
system requires breathing room and flexibility
in order to survive, if it can survive the re-
peated assaults from the Court.” Like Justice
Fortas in Gault, Chief Justice Burger also drew
from the animal kingdom to express his fear
that, by adding greater judicial formalism to
juvenile court proceedings, the Supreme Court

was ““burn[ing] down the stable to get rid of
the mice.”**® Oh, my!

The Ensuing Decades
So how in the ensuing decades have the “kan-
garoo” and the “mice” fared in the Supreme
Court of the United States? Are juvenile adju-
dication proceedings more like criminal cases,
or not? And what is the standard for deter-
mining the process due: totality of the cir-
cumstances, fundamental fairness, strict incor-
poration, selective incorporation of the Bill
of Rights, or something else? Which has
prevailed—Gault’s “sweeping rationale,” or
its “carefully tailored holding,” or the infor-
mality, flexibility and breathing room of the
beneficent juvenile courts? Each camp, you
recall, had ardent advocates in Gault.

There was not long to wait for an answer.
In McKeiver v. Pennsylvania,*! in 1971, the
Court drew the line at the right to jury tri-
als in juvenile adjudications, fixing the stan-
dard of review as Justice Harlan’s “funda-
mental fairness” and limiting the concept of
fundamental fairness to rights associated with
the fact-finding process. Juveniles, Justice
Harry Blackmun wrote, are entitled to some
but by no means all of the constitutional rights
accorded to adult criminal defendants; trial by
jury is not a necessary component of accurate
fact-finding, and requiring jury trials would
effectively remake juvenile proceedings into
full-blown adversarial contests. In denying the
enlargement of due process to include the right
to trial by jury, the Court’s majority under-
scored the need to maintain what it called the
intimacy of the juvenile proceeding, express-
ing reluctance to curtail the opportunity for
states to experiment further and seek in new
and different ways the elusive answers to the
problems of the young, through fairness, con-
cern, sympathy, and paternal attention. Only
Justice Douglas, joined by Justices Black and
Marshall, dissented, seeing acceptance of the
juvenile as a person entitled to the same pro-
tection as an adult—including the right of trial
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by jury—as “the true beginning of the rehabil-
itative process.”*?

I highlight just a couple of the Court’s
subsequent decisions touching on juveniles.

Again in Breed v. Jones,¥® in 1975, the
Court weighed in on the side of the benevo-
lent, “intimate”** state juvenile-justice exper-
iment, noting that although the system had
fallen short of the high expectations of its
sponsors, it still offered broad social benefits
that can survive constitutional scrutiny. Here
the Court spoke unanimously in extending to
juveniles the protection against double jeop-
ardy in transfer proceedings to the adult court
system. The Court was not persuaded that re-
quiring transfer proceedings to be held prior
to adjudicatory hearings would unduly strain
juvenile court resources, yet on the other hand
the added protection would promote funda-
mental fairness. Breed was the first case where
the Court reached a unanimous conclusion in
striking the “due process” balance, and the last
to add to the balance specific constitutional
protections for the juvenile.

A Fateful Day
For me, the ambivalence regarding troubled
young people is well illustrated by two de-
cisions handed down the very same day—
June 20, 1979. In one, Fare v. Michael C., the
Court reversed the California supreme court,
concluding that a sixteen-year-old knowingly
waived his constitutional rights—including
the right to counsel and right against self-
incrimination—when he asked to see his pro-
bation officer,*> provoking Justice Thurgood
Marshall’s ringing invocation in his dissent of
Gault’s admonitions regarding confessions by
minors.*® But in the second case decided that
day, Parham v. JR, the Court reversed a three-
judge District Court for the Middle District of
Georgia, concluding that Georgia procedures
for admitting a child for treatment to a state
mental hospital on parental consent were con-
stitutionally insufficient to satisfy the child’s
substantial liberty interest in not being unnec-

essarily confined.*’ Significantly, both lower
courts learned on June 20, 1979 that they had
gotten it wrong—the first erred too much on
the side of the child, the second too much on
the side of the state. A fine balance indeed!

In 1984, in Schall v. Martin,*® the balance
tipped even further away from Gault’s “sweep-
ing rationale” and toward the broad discretion
of state juvenile courts, the Court through Jus-
tice Rehnquist grounding its conclusion on
what Justice Fortas two decades earlier had
disparaged as the “murky” soil of parens pa-
triae.®®

In Schall, a facial challenge to provisions
of New York’s Family Court Act, the issue
was pretrial detention for a class of youngsters
based on a finding of serious risk that they
might commit what would be a crime before
the return date. Both the district court and the
Second Circuit had held in favor of the juve-
niles, because the statute was administered in
such a way that detention served as punishment
imposed without proof of guilt established in
accordance with the requisite constitutional
standard. The six-Justice Supreme Court ma-
jority, however, concluded that preventive de-
tention serves a legitimate state interest, and
that (recognizing the state’s superior parens
patriae interest) the procedural safeguards
were sufficient to authorize the detention of at
least some juveniles charged with crimes. As
Justice Rehnquist wrote, “[t]he harm suffered
by the victim of crime is not dependent on the
age of the perpetrator.”> On the other side,
championed with equal fervor, are the coun-
tervailing considerations articulated by Justice
Marshall—including bodily restraint of the
juvenile for presumptively innocent conduct,
stigmatization, and the feeling of young de-
tainees that society at large views them as hos-
tile and “irremediably ‘delinquent’”—all tip-
ping toward a more rigorous constitutionally
guaranteed liberty interest for the juveniles.®!

I conclude these few highlights from
Supreme Court history invoking Gault with
the Court’s 1993 decision in Reno v. Flo-
res,>* involving a facial challenge by a class of
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Gault shakes hands with Norman Dorsen, the lawyer who argued his case. Dorsen later became general
counsel and then president of the American Civil Liberties Union, arguing or appearing as amicus in countless
cases before the Supreme Court, including Gideon v. Wainwright, the Pentagon Papers case and the Nixon
Tapes case. Gault was his very first argument in the Supreme Court.

unaccompanied alien juveniles held in custody
by what was then the Immigration and Natural-
ization Service, pending deportation proceed-
ings, pitting any liberty interest arising from
custodial detention on the one hand against
the state interest in preserving and promot-
ing the welfare of children on the other. Here
again, the balance tipped in favor of the state.
In joining Justice Antonin Scalia’s opinion up-
holding institutional custody, Justice Sandra
Day O’Connor meticulously traced the path
of decisions involving children generally, from
Gault in 1967 to Santosky v. Kramer>* in 1982,
concluding that, where a juvenile has no re-
sponsible adult available, where the govern-
ment does not intend punishment, and where
the conditions of custody are decent and hu-
mane, there is no constitutional violation.>
That conclusion evoked the dissent of Justice

John Paul Stevens, joined by Justice Black-
mun: “If the Government is going to detain
juveniles in order to protect their welfare, due
process requires that it demonstrate, on an in-
dividual basis, that detention in fact serves that
interest.”

The world changes. The Court changes.
Technology changes—the Geralds of today no
doubt texting, tweeting, twittering (hopefully
not sexting) instead of telephoning. And the
struggle to strike a balance endures.

IV. Gault's Legacy

Often courts are left wondering how things
actually turned out for the flesh-and-blood hu-
man beings before them. In Gerald’s case, we
are fortunate enough to know. He spent his ca-
reer in the Army and throughout his life has
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remained an upstanding member of the com-
munity. Asked about the impact of his appeal,
he responded: “Then I had no rights. But now
my children, the children of the community,
children of the world have rights. They have
rights to an attorney, and to be able to question
their accuser. ...l feel it was well worth the
fight. And I think my folks do, too. I really
do.»%

Interesting. What do you think, I wonder?
Fortunately, | am in a position today, in this ex-
alted Chamber, where I do not have to answer
any questions. And by the way, neither do you.
But I do believe that Gault has been a good
subject for the Annual Lecture of the Supreme
Court Historical Society. Here’s why.

First, of course, the case unquestionably
marks an important chapter in the history of the
Supreme Court of the United States. Although
In re Gault, unlike Gideon v. Wainwright,”’
never inspired a popular film starring the likes
of Henry Fonda, the case has generated a great
deal of activity and commentary.’®

Gault spent his entire career in the Army. In 2007,
he described the impact of his case: “Then | had
no rights. But now my children, the children of the
community, children of the world have rights.”

But second, the subject of juvenile jus-
tice commands extraordinary public interest
today. In New York alone, the Department of
Justice has recently concluded a two-year in-
vestigation by documenting brutal instances in
our juvenile detention facilities, where many
nonviolent first-time young offenders are
housed, threatening to sue the state if the short-
comings are not addressed.’® Our Governor’s
Task Force has its juvenile-justice recommen-
dations;*® our chief judge has his.®' Front-
page stories across the nation have addressed
a whole host of issues involving adolescents—
from zero-tolerance school-discipline poli-
cies,”? to family cycles of self-destruction,
to heavy racial disparities,%3 to the devastat-
ing impact of the current economic crisis on
already troubled teenagers. Efforts are un-
der way to find innovative policy and prac-
tice models, a response both to the growth
of punitive reactions by the states (including
transfers to the adult criminal-justice system)
and to the inarguable statistical correlation
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between juvenile incarceration and, not greater
rehabilitation, but rather, higher recidivism
rates.

Contemporaneously, but certainly not co-
incidentally, scientific research on adolescent
development-—the neurological, psychologi-
cal, and behavioral differences between chil-
dren and adults—has burgeoned.®* Surely the
field has come a long way since 1967, when the
Court’s focus was less on the unique vulner-
ability of adolescents and more on the proce-
dural protections of our Constitution. The lit-
erature on adolescent brain development and
related issues is voluminous today. Most re-
cently, in Graham v. Florida,% the Court’s re-
jection of life without parole as a violation
of the Eighth Amendment, Justice Anthony
Kennedy drew from those sources, referenc-
ing in particular juveniles’ impulsiveness, dif-
ficulty thinking in terms of long-term benefits,
and reluctance to trust adults. Where will this
new science take the Court next? Though we
now have proved scientifically what we have
always known instinctively about kids, still we
struggle to strike a good balance between their
rights and their wrongs.

Clearly juvenile justice remains a critical
subject today, the best idea by far being delin-
quency prevention—early intervention, social
services to keep kids in their schools and with
their families, education rather than incarcer-
ation, an idea we all can be part of. It’s the
children’s future to be sure—but it’s our fu-
ture, our nation’s future too.

And finally, yes, I do agree with Ger-
ald Gault that it was worth the court battle.
A full century after the Fourteenth Amend-
ment was adopted, the Supreme Court in Gault
for the first time recognized the constitutional
status—the “personhood”—of juveniles, and
for the first time put a spotlight on what always
must be special about our specialized juvenile-
justice system, given both its subjects and its
objects. That is a powerful message.

Of only one thing am I certain: that the
absolute last word on the enormously complex
and consequential subject of juvenile justice—

as opposed to the absolute last word of this
lecture—has yet to be spoken.

Epilogue

Gerald Gault’s counsel at the Supreme Court,
Norman Dorsen (a former law clerk to Jus-
tice Harlan), later became general counsel and
then president of the American Civil Liber-
ties Union (ACLU), arguing or appearing as
amicus in countless cases before the Supreme
Court, including Gideon v. Wainwright % the
Pentagon Papers case,®’ and the Nixon Tapes
case.® Gault was his very first argument in
this Chamber. Dorsen is currently Counselor
to the President of New York University and
the Stokes Professor of Law at NYU School
of Law, where he has taught since 1961 (coin-
cidentally, when I was a student there). Presi-
dent Bill Clinton awarded Dorsen the Eleanor
Roosevelt Medal for contributions to human
rights in 2000, and in 2007 the Association of
American Law Schools presented him with its
triennial award for “lifetime contributions to
the law and to legal education.”®

Amelia Dietrich Lewis was an Arizona
cooperating attorney with the ACLU who rep-
resented the Gaults at the state habeas cor-
pus proceeding and in the Arizona supreme
court. Her representation had focused chiefly
on parental custody rights, but with the entry of
the ACLU it shifted to the due-process rights
ofjuveniles. A pioneer among women lawyers,
Ms. Lewis was admitted to the New York Bar
in the 1920s and worked in the New York City
juvenile justice system until 1957, when she
moved to Arizona. When she sat for the Ari-
zona bar examination, only one other woman
was taking the exam—Sandra Day O’Connor.
Ms. Lewis received an award from the Ameri-
can Bar Association for her work on Gault and
practiced law until she was eighty-nine years
of age. She died two years later, in 1994.7

Frank A. Parks, an assistant attorney gen-
eral in Arizona, represented the state on the
brief and in oral argument. Parks had been ad-
mitted to the Arizona bar the prior year. He
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left to join a private litigation firm in 1967,
the same year the Supreme Court decided
Gault, and developed a specialty in medical-
malpractice defense litigation. He cofounded
the Sanders and Parks law firm in 1973 and
served as its president until 1984. He was the
recipient of the 1999 Arizona Medical Associ-
ation Distinguished Service Award. Mr. Parks
is now retired.”!

Following the Supreme Court victory,
Gerald Gault was released from confinement,
having been detained for close to three years.
A year later, he joined the Army and spent
his career there, rising to the rank of sergeant.
According to Professor Dorsen, Gault appar-
ently has a spotless record and is an upstanding
member of his community.”?

Later interviewed about his landmark
case, Gault reminisced: “Lord, here I am, I
didn’t do anything wrong. I’'m in court being
tried, and now I’m being sentenced until I’'m
21 years old. I didn’t know what to think. Look-
ing back, I was really dazed about it ... The
first time being pulled away from Momma and
Daddy—it kind of put me in shock ... I seen
my folks later that evening at the ... juve-
nile hall ... Mom and daddy talked to me.
They told me exactly what they were doing,
and why they were doing it and how they were
going about it ... I figured right then, hey, if
my folks are willing to fight like that and get
that worked up about it, [ should too.””

When the “dean of boys” at Fort Grant
State Industrial School called to tell him that
he had won his case and would be released, and
that there were reporters waiting to interview
him, Gerald asked why reporters wanted to talk
to him. The “dean” said, “Your case went all
the way to the Supreme Court. Juvenile cases
don’t do that.” Gerald replied, “Wow! I guess
one did . ..”7*
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Errata

Ross E. Davies has issued a correction to his article, “The Judicial and Ancient Game: James Wilson, John Marshall
Harlan, and the Beginnings of Golf at the Supreme Court,” published in the July 2010 (vol. 35, no. 2) issue of the
Journal. Specifically, he takes issue with this sentence on page 129: “I have found no evidence that anyone else who
was on the Court when Harlan returned from Murray Bay with his clubs for the 1897 Term had ever played the
game—not Stephen J. Field (1863—1897), Horace Gray (1882—-1902), Melville W. Fuller (1888-1910), David J. Brewer
(1890-1910), Henry B. Brown (1891-1906), George Shiras, Jr. (1892-1903), Edward D. White (1894-1921), or Rufus
W. Peckham (1896—1909). Moreover, of Harlan’s eight 1897 colleagues, only a couple—Chief Justice Fuller and Justice
Brewer—would eventually pick it up.”

Ross writes: 1 was wrong. Justice Gray did take up golf. He said so in an August 19, 1900, letter to Chief Justice
Fuller. Writing from his house in Nahant, Massachusetts, Gray reported that he was “[r]eading and thinking and making
notes about Marshall [Gray was preparing a speech about Chief Justice John Marshall that he would deliver at a bar
association event in Richmond, Virginia in February 1901], with healthful interspersing of driving and golfing and
otherwise enjoying the healthful open air. .. .” Horace Gray to Melville Fuller, August 19, 1900, in Box 5, Papers of
Melville W. Fuller, Library of Congress, Manuscript Division. Wider and more careful reading would have brought
this fact to my attention. Gray’s golfing was reported, for example, in the June 1904 issue of the Proceedings of the
American Academy of Arts and Sciences: “He loved to be out of doors, went often into the woods fishing and shooting;
notwithstanding his great size he rode on horseback until middle life, and later took up the game of golf.” Francis C.
Lowell, “Horace Gray,” 39 Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences 627, 637 (June 1904).
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